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_/ CORPORATE STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2018
GUANGZHOU YUEXIU
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Where Good Living Starts

CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive directors

Mr Lin Zhaoyuan (Chairman)
Mr Lin Feng

Mr Li Feng

Ms Chen Jing

Ms Liu Yan

Independent non-executive directors &
audit committee members

Mr Yu Lup Fat Joseph
Mr Lee Ka Lun
Mr Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Yu Tat Fung

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Wing Lung Bank Limited

DBS Bank Ltd.

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

WEBSITES TO ACCESS
COMPANY INFORMATION

http:// www.yuexiuproperty.com
http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/yuexiuproperty
http://www.hkexnews.hk

REGISTERED OFFICE

26th Floor

Yue Xiu Building

160 Lockhart Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Abacus Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

LISTING EXCHANGE

Shares

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock codes

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited - 00123
Reuters - 123.HK

Bloomberg - 123 HK

Notes and Bonds

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

U.S.$500,000,000 4.50 per cent. Notes due 2023
(Code: 4597)

HK$2,300,000,000 6.10 per cent. Notes due 2029
(Code: 5846)

U.S.$800,000,000 4.875 per cent. Notes due 2021
(Code: 4467)

U.S.$400,000,000 5.375 per cent. Notes due 2023
(Code: 4468)

Shanghai Stock Exchange

RMB1,000,000,000 2.95 per cent. Corporate Bonds
due 2019 (16 #3E 01 Code: 136600)
RMB2,000,000,000 3.00 per cent. Corporate Bonds
due 2021 (16 #7E 02 Code: 136601)
RMB2,500,000,000 2.97 per cent. Corporate Bonds
due 2022 (16 3 03 Code: 136678)
RMB500,000,000 3.19 per cent. Corporate Bonds
due 2021 (16 3 04 Code: 136679)
RMB1,500,000,000 2.95 per cent. Corporate Bonds
due 2021 (16 3 05 Code: 136732)
RMB500,000,000 3.15 per cent. Corporate Bonds
due 2023 (16 3 06 Code: 136733)
RMB800,000,000 4.24 per cent. Corporate Bonds
due 2021 (18 3 01 Code: 143854)
RMB700,000,000 4.25 per cent. Corporate Bonds
due 2023 (18 &£ 02 Code: 143855)

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For further information about
Yuexiu Property Company Limited,
please contact:

Mr Michael Jiang

Email: ir@yuexiuproperty.com

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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INCOME STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS

_/ FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31 December

RMB’000 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Revenue 26,433,444 | 23,793,908 20,871,021 22,115,677 15,701,739
Gross profit 8,392,922 | 6,108,107 4,339,601 4,658,816 4,138,021
Profit attributable to equity holders

— from continuing operations 2,727,885 2,260,242 1,540,154 1,012,889 2,471,255
Basic earnings per share

— from continuing operations (RMB) 0.2200 0.1823 0.1242 0.0817 0.2329
BALANCE SHEET HIGHLIGHTS

As of 31 December

RMB’000 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total cash (including cash,cash equivalents

and charged bank deposits) 27,159,262 | 20,794,411 22,021,982 15,168,118 12,957,343
Total assets 168,820,498 | 133,142,511 125,364,916 112,024,654 93,075,353
Total assets less current liabilities 96,191,429 | 80,945,660 72,438,260 69,490,564 59,116,252
Shareholders’ equity 33,826,567 | 32,385,638 30,623,986 29,618,176 29,108,975
Shareholders’ equity per share (RMB) 2.728 2.611 2.469 2.388 2.347
REVENUE GROSS PROFIT
(RMB million) (RMB million)

26,433
1 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 [ B 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 [
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY

HOLDERS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

(RMB million)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

TOTAL ASSETS
(RMB million)

168,820

B 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 [ B 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 [
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY PER SHARE
(RMB million) (RMB Yuan)

B 2014

2015

2016

2017

2018 [§

1 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 [F
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_/ KEY EVENTS OF THE YEAR

In 2018, the value of the aggregate
contracted sales of the Group was
approximately RMB57.78 billion, hit a
new record high, a year-on-year increase
of 41.4%, and exceeding the full year
contracted sales target of RMB55.0 billion.

The Group disposed the Hangzhou
Victory Center to Yuexiu Real Estate
Investment Trust, and continued to
deepen the whole industry chain business
model of “development + operations +
securitisation”.

The Group added 16 lots of high-quality
land in key cities such as Guangzhou,
Suzhou, Wuhan and two new cities such
as Xiangyang and Ji'nan with a total GFA
of approximately 5.05 million sg.m., further
consolidating its market presence in the
three core regions of Greater Bay Area,
Yangtze River Delta and Central China
Region.

The Group signed cooperation agreements
with Taiwan Rui Guang Healthcare
Group, Adef Residences Group (France)
and Zhu Jiang Hospital to jointly explore
China’s healthcare and elderly care
integration market, establish a sound,
efficient and coordinated “healthcare
and elderly care” community, realize the
seamless combination of the two fields,
and consolidate the market presence of
elderly-care business.

The Group successfully issued USD800

million 3-year and USD400 million 5.5-year

9 offshore corporate bonds with coupon
rates of 4.875% and 5.375% respectively.

Anndial R




Where Good Living Starts

KEY EVENTS OF THE YEAR

Marriott Hotel Liangzhou Lin’an under
the Group officially opened which built a
benchmark for the local high-end hotel
industry, and further enhanced the Group’s
commercial operation capability.

The Group successfully issued RMB800
million 3-year and RMB700 million 5-year
onshore corporate bonds with coupon
rates of 4.24% and 4.25% respectively.

The Group won the “Corporate
Governance Gold Award 2018” awarded

by “The Asset” Magazine in Hong Kong
for the seventh consecutive year, which
was helpful to enhance the reputation and
prestige of the Group.

The Group was included as a constituent
of the Hang Seng Stock Connect Big Bay
Area Composite Index, and the Hang
Seng SCHK High Dividend Low Volatility
Index, which will help broaden the Group’s
shareholder base.

The Group published Environmental,

Social and Governance (ESG) Report and
hence received a number of influential
ESG awards, such as “Best in ESG
Awards” and “Best in ESG Reporting
Awards” highlighting the appreciation of
the capital market for our corporate social
responsibility.
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_/ CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

MR LIN ZHAOYUAN
Chairman
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I. BUSINESS REVIEW

Economic and Market Environment

In 2018, the global economy continued its moderate growth with a weakened momentum. Financial markets
and bulk commodity prices fluctuated significantly. Global economic downturn risks increased. In the US, the
economy recorded a robust growth and outperformed the market expectations. However, the trade protectionism
was on the rise. The US Federal Reserve raised the interest rate, thereby forming uncertainties on the global
economic recovery. In Europe, the economic growth dropped. In Japan, the economic recovery was slow. In
emerging economies, the performance varied considerably, the capital outflows increased and the financial
markets continued to be volatile. In 2018, under the overarching principle of “seeking growth while maintaining
stability”, Chinese economy achieved a sound development overall with a steady progress amid the sophisticated
international and domestic environment. Leveraging the advancement of the structural reform, transformation
and upgrade, enhancement of the reform and opening up as well as continuous improvement of the quality of
economic development, the economy achieved a year-on-year growth of 6.6% in GDP.

The PRC property market as a whole presented a stable development in 2018. The GFA of commodity housing
sales was approximately 1.72 billion sg.m., representing a year-on-year increase of 1.3%, while commodity housing
sales value was approximately RMB1.5 trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of 12.2%. The property sector
continued to play a pillaring role in the national economy. In 2018, property market policies are “implemented
based on each city and control measures are categorised”, the control policies serve to tighten up as well as
maintain stability, and the market expectations become rational gradually, as a result of which the control policies
achieved successes by stages. The property market continued to see a clear regional differentiation. In tier-1 and
major tier-2 cities, the transactions were steady; however, the supply still failed to meet demand in the market. The
trading volume rose substantially in certain tier-3 and tier-4 cities, where the housing prices increased significantly.
However, the areas experiencing population outflow still faced the “de-stocking” pressures. In order to stabilise the
housing prices, local governments increased the supply of land. Meanwhile, due to market modification, the land
market saw a declining competition in the second half of the year. With the tightening of credit funds, the financing
cost continued to rise.

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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Sustainable Growth in Operating Results

In 2018, the Group centered on the annual work theme of “operation-driven quality improvement, innovation-driven
development.” By improving the management ability and innovating the development model, the Group built the
core ability of the business development and realised sustained and stable business growth.

In 2018, the revenue of the Group was approximately RMB26.43 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of
11.1%. The gross profit margin was approximately 31.8%, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.1 percentage
points. Profit attributable to equity holders was approximately RMB2.73 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 20.7%. Core net profit (profit attributable to equity holders excluding net value added on revaluation
of investment properties and the related tax effect and net foreign exchange loss recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss) was approximately RMB2.81 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 19.6%. As
at 31 December 2018, the unrecognized sales value amounted to RMB63.90 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 60.9%.

The Board has resolved to declare a final dividend for 2018 of HKDO0.051 per share (equivalent to RMBO0.044
per share). Together with the interim dividends, total dividends for the full year of 2018 was HKD0.093 per share
(equivalent to RMB0.080 per share). Calculated in Hong Kong dollars, the dividend per share for the full year of
2018 increased by 1.1% on a year-on-year basis.

Substantial Growth in Contracted Sales

In 2018, facing the continuous tightening policies and tough market, the Group adjusted the sales strategy in a
timely manner according to the specific conditions of different markets, accelerated the pace of sales and cash
collection of sales proceeds, and achieved positive sales performance. During the year, the Group recorded a
contracted sales value (including contracted sales by joint venture projects) of approximately RMB57.78 billion,
41.4% up on a year-on-year basis and the contracted sales GFA was approximately 2.77 million sg.m., 24.7%
up on a year-on-year basis, which accounted for approximately 105.1% of the full year contracted sales target
of RMB55.0 billion. The average selling price was RMB20,900 per sg.m., 13.6% up on a year-on-year basis.
The aggregate contracted sales value in Greater Bay Area, Yangtze River Delta and Central China Region was
approximately RMB53.68 billion, accounting for approximately 92.9% of the Group’s total contracted sales.

Increase High-quality Landbank through Diversified Models

In 2018, through various models including cooperation with state-owned enterprises, open auction, mergers and
acquisitions, etc., the Group newly acquired 16 prime land parcels located in eight cities including Guangzhou,
Jiangmen, Wuhan, Xiangyang, Suzhou, Yantai, Qingdao, and Ji'nan at low premiums, with a total GFA of
approximately 5.05 million sg.m.. In terms of the attributable interest to the Group, the attributable GFA was
approximately 1.92 million sg.m..

Annual Report 2018



Where Good Living Starts

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

As at 31 December 2018, the total landbank of the Group was approximately 19.41 million sg.m.. In accordance
with the development strategy of the “13th Five-year Plan”, in terms of regional expansion layout, the Group made
Greater Bay Area, Yangtze River Delta, and Central China Region as its three core growth regions. The Group’s
landbank was in 14 cities, with approximately 86.3% located in Greater Bay Area, Yangtze River Delta and Central
China Region.

Continuous Improvement in Financial Position

In 2018, fully leveraging the advantages of diversified onshore and offshore financing channels, the Group
strengthened capital management, and optimised the financing models. The Group successfully issued USD800
million 3-year and USD400 million 5.5-year offshore corporate bonds with coupon rates of 4.875% and 5.375%
respectively, and issued RMB800 million 3-year and RMB700 million 5-year onshore corporate bonds with coupon
rates of 4.24% and 4.25% respectively, thereby optimising the debt portfolio and debt structure. As at the end
of 2018, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents and charged bank deposits amounted to approximately
RMB27.16 billion, representing an increase of 30.6% as compared to the beginning of the year; and its net gearing
ratio was 61.2% and decreased by 11.6 percentage points as compared to the beginning of the year.

Steady Development of Commercial Properties

The Group strives to develop its commercial operation capacity, optimise the dual platform of “Yuexiu Property-
Yuexiu REIT”, develop commercial properties business as an “stabiliser” for the Group. In 2018, the Group
disposed Hangzhou Victory Business Center, a high-quality property to Yuexiu REIT at a total consideration of
RMB557 million, further implementing the development model of “development + operations + securitisation”. As at
the end of 2018, the Group directly owned approximately 0.81 million sq.m. of investment properties for lease and
recorded a rental income of approximately RMB685 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 10.8%. The
Group holds 36.12% of Yuexiu REIT, which had 0.97 million sq.m. of commercial properties for lease, achieving a
revenue of approximately RMB2.03 billion for the year, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.6%.
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_/ CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Constant Improvement in Operation Capabilities

The Group continued to upgrade and optimise the internal management system, focusing on optimising the
control of business lines such as construction, product and cost. On the basis of placing equal emphasis on
quality and speed, the Group focused on strengthening the capacity to build a “fast turnover” system, substantially
improving the efficiency of development. According to the characteristics of different projects in regional markets
and policy changes, the Group linked product planning with R&D, achieving significant improvement in product
competitiveness. The Group carried out targeted optimisation measures in the procurement process, further
consolidating the basis of cost control. At the same time, the Group stepped up the cultivation and introduction of
core talents, optimised the talent evaluation and development system, accelerated the continuous optimisation and
comprehensive coverage of short-term, medium-term and long-term performance incentive system, stimulated the
vitality of human resources and provided human capital support for the development of the Company.

Smooth Expansion of New Businesses

In 2018, the Group’s urban renewal business went smoothly, the “Railway + Properties” development model
registered substantial progress, and development by cooperating with state-owned enterprises and urban renewal
projects covering old towns, old plants and old villages also progressed steadily. The business pattern of the
elderly-care business has been fully developed. The occupancy rate of Yinxing Yiyuan Project in Guangzhou
which is in operation reached 90%, and it was rated as a five-star elderly-care institution in Guangdong Province.
Its Chigang branch also opened at the end of the year, and the market responded well. The housing leasing
business progressed steadily. Three projects were under operation in the year, and several projects were under
development. The Group is actively pursuing strategic cooperation with Guangzhou state-owned enterprises for
multi-channel access to acquire quality projects.
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II.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2019, the global economy will continue to grow slowly, and the prospect of China-US trade
negotiations will bring uncertainties to the recovery of the global economy. The external environment is complex
and grave, and changes and worries weighed on stable economic operation. Chinese economy is still in and will
remain in an important period of strategic opportunities for a long time. It is expected that the government will
continue to adhere to the overarching principle of “seeking growth while maintaining stability” while insisting on
the main direction of the supply-side structural reform. Also, the government will accelerate the construction of a
modern economic system, innovate and improve macro-control, coordinate and promote stable growth, advance
reform, adjust structure, improve people’s well-being, and guard against risks. Moreover, the government will
continue to adopt proactive fiscal policies and prudent and neutral monetary policies. It is anticipated that Chinese
macroeconomy will maintain a continuous and steady growth as a whole in 2019.

In 2019, as an important pillar of the national economy, the real estate industry is expected to remain stable
as a whole. The regulatory policies on the real estate market will continue and remain stable, focusing on city-
specific policies and policy optimisation, speeding up the long-term mechanism of the real estate market, and
ensuring the steady and healthy development of the real estate industry. The real estate market is expected to
remain basically stable in general supply and price with continuous market differentiation. The market in the tier-
1 and certain key tier-2 cities will stabilise. The market demand support base of tier-3 and tier-4 cities is relatively
weak, therefore the downward pressure of sales is relatively high. However, cities that are dominated by first-
home buyers and upgraders will have development opportunities. The government will continue to increase the
supply of land and optimise the supply structure so that the land market will gradually return to rational. Supply of
credit fund will remain stable in general, but is eased moderately in response to the economic downturn. Funding
cost tends to decline, and the financing environment will gradually improve. At the same time, there will be many
new opportunities for new business such as commercial properties, elderly-care industry and long-term leasing
business, and the real estate industry will remain in a stable development period.

Achieving Annual Targets

In 2019, the Group will adhere to the theme of “in-depth management ability improvement, operation-driven
development” and devote every effort to achieve its annual sales and business targets. With regard to sales, the
Group will achieve high sell-through rate and cash collection rate through managing the pace of sales, precise
launches, flexible marketing and innovative channels, with an aim to achieve the annual sales target. With regard
to the operation, the Group will speed up project development and asset turnover to continuously enhance
profitability and ROE level. With regard to the product development, adhering to customer needs to improve the
competitiveness of products, the Group will focus on building and optimising its product lines to better satisfy with
rigid and improved demand. With respect to the human resource, the Group will deepen the implementation of the
mechanism of co-investment and share incentive scheme, step up the cultivation and introduction of core talents,
thereby enhancing the organizational support capability of business.

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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Consolidating the Unique Resource Acquisition Platform

The Group will continue to cultivate its unique advantage to acquire quality land resources via various means,
forming a multi-channel model combination of “Open Market Auctions + Group Incubation + Cooperation with
State-owned Enterprises + Railway + Urban Renewal + Merger and Acquisition + Business parks”. The Group
will focus on fast turnover projects in accordance with the requirement of controlled pace, optimised structure,
strict standard and precise layout in open land market. The Group will deepen and leverage the advantages of
cooperation with state-owned enterprises, and continue to expand the depth and breadth of cooperation with the
“Railway + Properties” to acquire land resources. Furthermore, via deep participation in urban renewal projects,
the Group will actively pursue merger & acquisition opportunities in the secondary market. Following the national
strategy of the Greater Bay Area, the Group will seize the opportunities of strategic development of the Greater Bay
Area to maintain and further strengthen its dominant position in market.

Upholding the Strategy of “Coordinated Development of Both Residential and Commercial Properties”

“Coordinated development of both residential and commercial properties” is one of the important development
strategies of the Group. The Group will continue to deepen the whole industry chain business model of “development
+ operations + securitisation”. On one hand, by accelerating the enhancement of planning, professional operational
capabilities, the Group will strengthen its basic commercial property steadily.On the other hand, by continuous
enhancement of investment acquisition and capital operation, the Group will proactively explore asset-light fast-
turnover business model, thus developing commercial properties business into an important “stabiliser” and core
competitive advantage of the Group.

Ensuring Financial Prudence and Security

In light of liquidity risks, interest rate risks and foreign exchange risks arising from increased economic volatility,
the Group will speed up collection of sales proceeds. Moreover, the Group will make full use of all kinds of
financial instruments through the comprehensive use of onshore and offshore financing channels to leverage the
advantage of whole industry chain for financing, optimise capital management, thereby reducing the funding cost,
and providing multiple financing channels as well as reasonable debt structure. At the same time, the Group shall
further strengthen the function of risk control, improve the financial risk monitoring system, and enhance the risk
early-warning.

Steady Advancement of New Businesses

Regarding the urban renewal business, the Group will fully leverage the advantages of resources of state-owned
enterprises, expand the urban renewal business, and deepen the collaboration model with “Railway + Properties”.
The Group also strengthens the cooperation with state-owned enterprises to tap into their stock of land resources.
Moreover, in order to continuously acquire quality land resources the Group will actively participate in “three old”
redevelopments. For elderly-care business, the Group will effectively operate existing projects, actively explore new
projects, integrate medical care and resources at home and abroad, and create a model of combining medical
care and elderly care, both in multi-ways and multi-levels. Concerning the long-term leasing business, the Group
will speed up housing leasing business through multi-platforms, multi-channels and multi-ways, focus on the
state-owned stock projects cooperation and asset-light operation model. Emphasis will also be placed on steadily
strengthening the development of property “+ industries”, “+ towns” and other new businesses. Meanwhile, the
Group will integrate high-quality educational resources from Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area to
accelerate “+ education” business.
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT

2019 is a crucial year for implementing the Group’s “13th Five-year” development plan. The Group will take advantage of
current important strategic development opportunities, focus on three core regions, namely Greater Bay Area, Yangtze
River Delta and Central China Region. The Group will strive to strengthen and optimise the development and operation of
residential and commercial properties, foster new businesses such as urban renewal, elderly-care and long-term leasing
businesses, comprehensively enhance the professionalism and competitiveness of all links of the real estate industry
value chain and continue to improve the rate of return on capital of shareholders. With respect to the development of
various businesses of the Group achieved over the years, | would like to take this opportunity to extend my gratitude to
the Board of Directors for their proper leadership and all our staff for their relentless endeavors, as well as to express my
deepest appreciation to our shareholders, our customers and business partners for their full trust and dedicated support.

Mr Lin Zhaoyuan
Chairman

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

REVENUE AND GROSS PROFIT

In 2018, the Group realized revenue of approximately RMB26.43 billion (2017: RMB23.79 billion), representing a year-
on-year increase of 11.1%. The total revenue (including proceeds from sales of investment properties) was approximately
RMB26.53 billion (2017: RMB24.14 billion), representing a year-on-year increase of 9.9%. The gross profit was
approximately RMB8.39 billion (2017: RMB6.11 billion), representing a year-on-year increase of 37.4%, and the gross
profit margin reached approximately 31.8%, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.1 percentage points.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

In 2018, profit attributable to equity holders of the Group was approximately RMB2.73 billion (2017: RMB2.26 billion),
a year-on-year increase of 20.7%. If the net fair value gains on revaluation of investment properties and the related tax
effect and net foreign exchange loss were not taken into account, the core net profit was approximately RMB2.81 billion
(2017: RMB2.35 billion), a year-on-year increase of 19.6% and core net profit margin was approximately 10.6%.

CONTRACTED SALES

In 2018, the value of the aggregate contracted sales (including contracted sales by joint venture projects) of the Group
was approximately RMB57.78 billion, a year-on-year increase of 41.4% and accounted for approximately 105.1% of the
full year contracted sales target of RMB55.0 billion. The GFA of the aggregate contracted sales (including contracted
sales by joint venture projects) was approximately 2.77 million sg.m., representing a year-on-year increase of 24.7%. The
average selling price was approximately RMB20,900 per sg.m., a year- on-year increase of 13.6%.

In terms of regional composition, with respect to the value of the aggregate contracted sales for 2018, Guangzhou
accounted for approximately 52.3%, Pearl River Delta (excluding Guangzhou) accounted for approximately 7.7 %,
Yangtze River Delta accounted for approximately 22.2%, Central China Region accounted for approximately 10.7%,
Bohai Rim accounted for approximately 7.1%.

In 2018, the development of the property market of the three major regions that the Group focused on, namely the
Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta and the Central China Region, was healthy. The Group also recorded a strong
sales results in these regions. The contracted sales value amounted to approximately RMB53.68 billion, accounting for
approximately 92.9% of the total contracted sales.
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Greater Bay Area

The Group has already established operations in Guangzhou, Hong Kong, Foshan, Jiangmen and Zhongshan, within
Greater Bay Area. In 2018, with implementation of the favourable policies on Greater Bay Area, the property market of
cities in Greater Bay Area developed in a sustainable and steady manner.

In 2018, the property market of Guangzhou was affected by stringent control policies. Total area of commodity residential
housing sold in Guangzhou dropped year on year, while the average selling price was increased in a continuous and
steady manner, such that the overall volume of transactions recorded a rise. The Group proactively responded to the
control situation and further strengthened and developed its leading position in the property market of Guangzhou. In
2018, the contracted sales value in Guangzhou amounted to approximately RMB30.20 billion, up 64.2% on a year-on-
year basis, while the average selling price was approximately RMB28,900 per sg. m., up 7.4% on a year-on-year basis.

Following the implementation of favourable policies for the national level free trade zone, Nansha District of Guangzhou,
saw active transactions in the property market in 2018 as supported by continuous development of industries in the
district. The Group proactively captured the market opportunity and speeded up the product launches based on the
market demand. In 2018, the contracted sales value in Nansha amounted to approximately RMB8.29 billion, up 132.9%
on a year-on-year basis, while the average selling price was approximately RMB18,600 per sg. m., up 6.9% on a year-
on-year basis.

Affected by the control policies, the property market of Foshan, Zhongshan and Jiangmen in 2018 was steady overall,
while the average selling price was increased stably. In 2018, the contracted sales value of the Group in Pearl River Delta
(except Guangzhou) amounted to approximately RMB4.46 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 13.0%, while
the average selling price was approximately RMB10,700 per sg. m., representing a year-on-year increase of 5.9%.

Yangtze River Delta

The Group has already established operations in Hangzhou and Suzhou, within Yangtze River Delta. In 2018, although
the property market of Hangzhou and Suzhou was affected by the stringent control policies, the overall volume of
transactions and the average selling price remained steady. In 2018, the contracted sales value of the Group in Yangtze
River Delta amounted to approximately RMB12.84 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 49.2%, while the
average selling price was approximately RMB21,000 per sg. m., representing a year-on-year increase of 16.7%.

Central China Region

In 2018, the Group has focused on Wuhan within Central China Region. Due to the implementation of favourable policies
in support of buyers with rigid demand to buy properties and of attracting talents, the destocking of Wuhan in 2018 was
satisfactory. The Group promoted sales through diversified channels. In 2018, the contracted sales value in markets of
Central China Region amounted to approximately RMB6.17 billion, up 38.6% on a year-on-year basis, while the average
selling price was approximately RMB18,600 per sg. m., down 31.4% on a year-on-year basis.
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_/ MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contracted sales are summarised as follows:

No. Project GFA Value ASP
(sq.m.) (RMB mi) (RMB/sq.m.)

1 Guangzhou Starry Cullinan 4,600 333 72,400
2 Guangzhou Fortune Century Square 5,900 368 62,400
3 Guangzhou Starry Haizhu Bay 114,200 5,693 49,900
4 Guangzhou Yuexiu Greenland Haiyue 37,500 1,969 52,500
5 Guangzhou Starry Golden Sands 2,600 37 14,200
6 Guangzhou Starry Sky City 67,200 2,817 41,900
7 Guangzhou Purple Cloud Mansion 106,900 4,586 42,900
8 Guangzhou Liwan Park Avenue 8,700 422 48,500

(previous name: Guangzhou Guanggang Phase 4 Land)
9 Guangzhou Starry Wenhua 1,200 39 31,600
10 Guangzhou Paradiso Riverside 6,300 96 15,200
11 Guangzhou Lingnan Hillside 4,300 45 10,500
12 Panyu Cullinan (previous name: 13,300 507 38,100
Guangzhou Panyu Hualing Air-condition Factory Land)

13 Guangzhou Lingnan Villas 4,200 39 9,300
14 Guangzhou Lingnan Wood 6,200 69 11,100
15 Guangzhou Yuexiu Poly Aite City 190,600 4,342 22,800
16 Nansha Southern Le Sand 171,500 3,208 18,700
17 Nansha Binhai New City 247,700 4,461 18,000
18 Nansha Yuexiu East Hillside 27,100 623 23,000
19 Huadu Elegant Mansion 6,900 224 32,500
Other Projects 16,500 326 19,800
Subtotal (Guangzhou) 1,043,400 30,204 28,900
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No. Project GFA Value ASP
(sq.m.) (RMB mil) (RMB/sg.m.)
20 Nanhai Starry Mansion 12,000 223 18,600
21 Nanhai Starry Winking 12,300 229 18,600
22 Foshan Lingnan Junting 13,100 208 15,900
23 Foshan Paradiso Power 5,000 67 13,400
24 Foshan Longfor Yuexiu Cloud Mansion 12,400 105 8,500
25 Jiangmen Starry Regal Court 61,700 398 6,500
26 Jiangmen Xijiang Mansion 14,100 176 12,500
27 Jiangmen Xijiang Joy Mansion 1,300 17 13,100
28 Jiangmen Starry Mountain 43,100 532 12,300
29 Jiangmen Yuexiu Binjiang City Glory 54,000 554 10,300
(previous name: Jiangmen Binjiang Land)
30 Heshan Starry Regal Court 94,200 774 8,200
31 Zhongshan Starry Winking 3,000 22 7,300
32 Zhongshan Starry Peakfield 81,800 1,054 12,900
33 Zhongshan Starry Junting 900 9 10,000
34 Zhongshan Paradiso Jadin 10,100 95 9,400
Subtotal (Pearl River Delta ex. Guangzhou) 419,000 4,463 10,700
35 Hangzhou Starry City 228,100 3,253 14,300
36 Hangzhou Starry Joy City 5,000 50 10,000
37 Hangzhou Starry Upper City 1,500 26 17,300
38 Hangzhou Victory Center 700 18 25,700
39 Hangzhou Crystal City 2,200 34 15,500
40 Hangzhou Qinaili Lane 2,700 90 33,300
41 Hangzhou Joy Mountain 120,300 2,109 17,500
42 Hanghzhou Lake & Mountain 61,300 1,021 16,700
43 Hangzhou Garden 1872 60,100 2,401 40,000
44 Hangzhou Joy Bay 71,100 2,828 39,800
45 Suzhou Paradiso Pavilion 20,400 76 3,700
46 Suzhou YueFu Mansion 30,600 743 24,300
(previous name: Suzhou Xuguan Land )
47 Suzhou Joy Bay 8,500 189 22,200
(previous name: Suzhou Xuguan Land )
Subtotal (Yangtze River Delta) 612,500 12,838 21,000
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No. Project GFA Value ASP
(sq.m.) (RMB mil) (RMB/sg.m.)

48 Wuhan Starry Emperor 46,300 582 12,600
49 Wuhan International Financial City 64,700 2,387 36,900
50 Wuhan Starry Mountain 36,000 950 26,400
51 Wuhan Starry Bay 59,100 934 15,800
52 Wuhan Yuexiu Paradiso Mansion 8,000 123 15,400
53 Wuhan Yuexiu Paradiso Garden 46,700 581 12,400
54 Wuhan Joy Mansion 71,900 616 8,600
Subtotal (Central China Region) 332,700 6,173 18,600

55 Shenyang Starry Winking 2,600 28 10,800
56 Shenyang Hill Lake 2,400 21 8,800
57 Shenyang Starry Blue Sea 84,300 1,399 16,600
58 Yantai Starry Golden Sands 89,000 739 8,300
59 Yantai Starry Phoenix 2,000 12 6,000
60 Yantai Elegant Mansion 64,800 718 11,100
61 Qingdao Starry Blue Bay 19,800 225 11,400
62 Qingdao Infinite Mansion 1,100 22 20,000
63 Qingdao Elegant Mansion 71,700 630 8,800
64 Qingdao Jiaozhou Platinum Mansion 12,900 185 14,300
65 Ji’nan Baimai Delighted Mansion 9,700 102 10,500

(previous name: Ji'nan Zhangqiu Land)

66 Ji'nan Gemdale Yuexiu Art Living 1,000 24 24,000
Subtotal (Bohai Rim) 361,300 4,105 11,400

Total 2,768,900 57,783 20,900
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RECOGNISED SALES

In 2018, the value of the recognised sales (including proceeds from sales of investment properties) was approximately
RMB24.39 billion, a year-on-year increase of 10.1%, and recognised sales GFA was approximately 1.71 million sg.m., a
year-on-year decrease of 12.2%, and the average selling price was approximately RMB14,300 per sg.m..

Recognised sales are summarised as follows:

No. Project GFA Value ASP
(sq.m.) (RMB mi) (RMB/sq.m.)

1 Guangzhou Starry Cullinan 4,300 298 69,300
2 Guangzhou Fortune Century Square 5,200 285 54,800
3 Guangzhou Starry Haizhu Bay 42,000 1,293 30,800
4 Guangzhou Starry Golden Sands 1,500 25 16,700
5 Guangzhou Starry Sky City 49,300 1,325 26,900
6 Guangzhou Starry Wenhua 2,100 73 34,800
7 Guangzhou Starry Wenyu 3,300 54 16,400
8 Guangzhou Paradiso Riverside 5,900 84 14,200
9 Guangzhou Lingnan Hillside 36,300 420 11,600
10 Guanghzou Lingnan Villas 3,100 29 9,400
11 Nansha Southern Le Sand 108,000 1,524 14,100
Other Projects 14,800 183 12,400
Subtotal (Guangzhou) 275,800 5,593 20,300

12 Nanhai Starry Winking 14,600 264 18,100
13 Foshan Lingnan Junting 12,100 175 14,500
14 Foshan Paradiso Power 5,700 79 13,900
15 Jiangmen Starry Regal Court 4,200 39 9,300
16 Jiangmen Xijiang Joy Mansion 138,000 1,142 8,300
17 Jiangmen Starry Mountain 119,300 1,273 10,700
18 Zhongshan Starry Winking 3,500 31 8,900
19 Zhongshan Starry Peakfield 2,700 24 8,900
20 Zhongshan Starry Junting 1,000 10 10,000
21 Zhongshan Paradiso Jadin 92,200 585 6,300
Subtotal (Pearl River Delta ex. Guangzhou) 393,300 3,622 9,200

Yuexiu Property Company Limited



/26/27

_/ MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

No. Project GFA Value ASP
(sq.m.) (RMB mil) (RMB/sg.m.)

22 Hangzhou Starry City 178,500 1,689 8,900
23 Hangzhou Starry Joy City 9,000 86 9,600
24 Hangzhou Starry Upper City 19,800 379 19,100
25 Hangzhou Victory City 1,400 36 25,700
26 Hangzhou Qinai Lane 60,900 1,630 26,800
27 Suzhou Paradiso Pavilion 3,800 50 13,200
28 Suzhou Starry Pavilion 79,500 1,022 12,900
Subtotal (Yangtze River Delta) 352,900 4,792 13,600

29 Wuhan Starry Emperor 75,900 1,023 13,500
30 Wuhan International Financial City 170,000 4,956 29,200
31 Wuhan Starry Mountain 35,600 774 21,700
Subtotal (Central China Region) 281,500 6,753 24,000

32 Shenyang Starry Winking 70,300 1,086 15,400
33 Shenyang Hill Lake 1,100 10 9,100
34 Shenyang Starry Blue Sea 12,900 94 7,300
35 Yantai Starry Golden Sands 174,900 1,160 6,600
36 Yantai Starry Phoenix 1,800 10 5,600
37 Qingdao Starry Blue Bay 12,200 127 10,400
38 Qingdao Infinite Mansion 16,600 134 8,100
39 Qingdao Elegant Mansion 115,400 1,006 8,700
Subtotal (Bohai Rim) 405,200 3,627 9,000

Total 1,708,700 24,387 14,300
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

UNRECOGNISED SALES

As at 31 December 2018, the value of the unrecognised sales amounted to approximately RMB63.90 billion, and GFA of
the unrecognised sales was approximately 2.73 million sg.m.. The average selling price was approximately RMB23,400
per sg.m..

Unrecognised sales are summarised as follows:

No. Project GFA Value ASP
(sq.m.) (RMB mi) (RMB/sq.m.)
1 Guangzhou Starry Cullinan 5,600 375 67,000
2 Guangzhou Starry Haizhu Bay 197,600 9,610 48,600
3 Guangzhou Yuexiu Greenland Haiyue 128,400 5,526 43,000
4 Guangzhou Starry Sky City 111,300 4,700 42,200
5 Guangzhou Purple Cloud Mansion 135,300 5,851 43,200
6 Guangzhou Liwan Park Avenue 8,700 421 48,400
(previous name: Guangzhou Guanggang Phase 4 Land)
7 Panyu Cullinan (previous name: 13,300 507 38,100
Guangzhou Panyu Hualing Air-condition Factory Land)
8 Guangzhou Yuexiu Poly Aite City 191,200 4 477 23,400
9 Nansha Southern Le Sand 128,800 2,947 22,900
10 Nansha Binhai New Town 358,800 6,252 17,700
11 Nansha Yuexiu East Hillside 27,100 623 23,000
12 Huadu Elegant Mansion 6,900 224 32,500
Subtotal (Guangzhou) 1,308,000 41,513 31,700
13 Nanhai Starry Mansion 12,000 223 18,600
14 Nanhai Starry Winking 4,900 96 19,600
15 Foshan Longfor Yuexiu Cloud Mansion 12,400 105 8,500
16 Jiangmen Starry Regal Court 59,900 383 6,400
17 Jiangmen Xijiang Joy Mansion 26,700 251 9,400
18 Jiangmen Starry Mountain 5,700 98 17,200
19 Heshan Starry Regal Court 94,200 775 8,200
20 Jiangmen Yuexiu Binjiang City Glory 54,000 554 10,300
(previous name: Jiangmen Binjiang
Land)
21 Zhongshan Starry Peakfield 102,400 1,343 13,100
Subtotal (Pearl River Delta ex. Guangzhou) 372,200 3,828 10,300
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No. Project GFA Value ASP
(sq.m.) (RMB mil) (RMB/sg.m.)

22 Hangzhou Starry City 255,700 3,683 14,400
23 Hangzhou Joy Mountain 120,300 2,109 17,500
24 Hanghzhou Lake & Mountain 61,300 1,022 16,700
25 Hangzhou Garden 1872 60,100 2,401 40,000
26 Hangzhou Joy Bay 71,100 2,828 39,800
27 Suzhou YueFu Mansion 30,600 743 24,300

(previous name: Suzhou Xuguan Land )

28 Suzhou Joy Bay (previous name: Suzhou Xuguan Land Il) 8,500 189 22,200
Subtotal (Yangtze River Delta) 607,600 12,975 21,400

29 Wuhan Starry Emperor 18,200 208 11,400
30 Wuhan International Financial City 12,100 497 41,100
31 Wuhan Starry Mountain 9,000 235 26,100
32 Wuhan Starry Bay 59,100 934 15,800
33 Wuhan Yuexiu Paradiso Mansion 8,000 123 15,400
34 Wuhan Yuexiu Paradiso Garden 46,700 581 12,400
35 Wuhan Joy Mansion 71,900 615 8,600
Subtotal (Central China Region) 225,000 3,193 14,200

36 Shenyang Starry Winking 38,500 567 14,700
37 Yantai Starry Golden Sands 30,000 223 7,400
38 Yantai Elegant Mansion 64,800 718 11,100
39 Qingdao Starry Blue Bay 7,600 92 12,100
40 Qingdao Elegant Mansion 55,200 482 8,700
41 Qingdao Jiaozhou Platinum Mansion 12,900 186 14,400
42 Ji’'nan Baimai Delighted Mansion 9,700 102 10,500

(previous name: Ji’'nan Zhangqiu Land)

43 Ji'nan Gemdale Yuexiu Art Living 1,000 24 24,000
Subtotal (Bohai Rim) 219,700 2,394 10,900

Total 2,732,500 63,903 23,400
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LANDBANK

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has newly acquired 16 land parcels mainly located in Guangzhou, Jiangmen,
Wuhan, Xiangyang, Suzhou, Yantai, Qingdao and Ji'nan, with total GFA of approximately 5.05 million sg.m.. In terms of
the attributable interest to the Group, the total GFA was approximately 1.92 million sg.m..

As at 31 December 2018, land parcels newly acquired are summarised as follows:

No. Project Equity Attributable
holding Total GFA GFA
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
1 Panyu Cullinan (previous name: 13.63% 383,800 52,300
Guangzhou Panyu Hualing Air-condition Plant Land)
2 Panyu GAC Auto Town Project 28.64% 527,900 151,200
3 Nansha Lingshan Island Land |l 95.00% 405,600 385,300
4 Nansha Lingshan Island Land Ill 9.50% 130,000 12,400
5 Huadu Phoenix Road Land I 9.55% 292,200 27,900
6 Huadu Phoenix Road Land Il 9.55% 193,300 18,500
7 Jiangmen Yuexiu Binjiang City Glory 47.50% 351,200 166,800
(previous name: Jiangmen Binjiang Land)
8 Suzhou YueFu Mansion 95.00% 210,500 200,000
(previous name: Suzhou Xuguan Land )
9 Suzhou Joy Bay 15.68% 116,300 18,200
(previous name: Suzhou Xuguan Land )
10 Wuhan Huangpi Land 14.25% 231,900 33,000
11 Xiangyang Lejin New District Land 28.50% 1,092,000 311,200
12 Yantai Elegant Mansion 90.25% 78,600 70,900
13 Qingdao Licang Ocean Chemical 51.00% 211,900 108,100
Industry Land
14 Qingdao Jiaozhou Platinum Mansion 99.50% 209,100 208,100
15 Ji’'nan Baimai Delighted Mansion 23.51% 565,400 132,900
(previous name: Ji’'nan Zhangqiu Land)
16 Ji'nan Gemdale Yuexiu Art Living 38.00% 52,600 20,000
Total 5,052,300 1,916,800

As at 31 December 2018, the landbank of the Group reached approximately 19.41 million sg.m. with a total of 58
projects in 14 cities in China and the regional layout continued to improve. In terms of the attributable interest to
the Group, the total landbank was approximately 10.92 million sg.m.. In terms of regional composition, Guangzhou
accounted for approximately 39.3% of the total landbank, Pearl River Delta (excluding Guangzhou) accounted for
approximately 8.9%, Yangtze River Delta accounted for approximately 19.4%, Central China Region accounted for
approximately 18.7%, Bohai Rim accounted for approximately 12.8%, Hainan accounted for approximately 0.5% and
Hong Kong accounted for approximately 0.4%.
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Landbank is summarised as follows:

No. Project Landbank PUD PFD
GFA (sq.m.) GFA (sq.m.) GFA (sq.m.)
1 Guangzhou Asia Pacific Century Plaza 229,400 229,400 -
2 Guangzhou Starry Haizhu Bay 734,500 530,700 203,800
3 Guangzhou Yuexiu Greenland Haiyue 148,700 148,700 -
4 Guangzhou Haizhu Nanzhou Road Land 154,900 154,900 -
5 Guangzhou Starry Sky City 562,800 562,800 -
6 Guangzhou Purple Cloud Mansion 245,500 245,500 -
7 Guangzhou Liwan Park Avenue 275,500 275,500 —
(previous name: Guangzhou Guanggang Phase 4 Land)
8 Panyu Cullinan (previous name: 383,800 383,800 —
Guangzhou Panyu Hualing Air-condition Plant Land)
9 Panyu GAC Auto Town Project 527,900 — 527,900
10 Guangzhou Yuexiu Poly Aite City 245,200 245,200 —
11 Nansha Southern Le Sand 1,190,400 410,500 779,900
12 Nansha Binhai New Town 1,014,100 652,000 362,100
13 Nansha Yuexiu East Hillside 258,300 258,300 —
14 Nansha Jinling North Land 134,300 134,300 —
15 Nansha Lingshan Island Land | 221,400 — 221,400
16 Nansha Lingshan Island Land |l 405,600 — 405,600
17 Nansha Lingshan Island Land Ill 130,000 — 130,000
18 Huadu Elegant Mansion 222,200 222,200 —
19 Huadu Phoenix Road Land I 292,200 292,200 —
20 Huadu Phoenix Road Land IlI 193,300 — 193,300
Other Projects 50,100 — 50,100
Subtotal (Guangzhou) 7,620,100 4,746,000 2,874,100
21 Foshan Lingnan Junting 24,000 24,000 —
22 Nanhai Starry Mansion 567,100 352,300 214,800
23 Foshan Longfor Yuexiu Cloud Mansion 76,300 76,300 -
24 Jiangmen Starry Regal Court 58,200 58,200 -
25 Jiangmen Xijiang Joy Mansion 81,200 81,200 —
26 Jiangmen Starry Mountain 2,900 2,900 -
27 Heshan Starry Regal Court 416,000 416,000 -
28 Jiangmen Yuexiu Binjiang City Glory 351,200 351,200 -
(previous name: Jiangmen Binjiang Land)
29 Zhongshan Starry Peakfield 153,100 163,100 -
Subtotal (Pearl River Delta ex. Guangzhou) 1,730,000 1,515,200 214,800
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

No. Project Landbank PUD PFD
GFA GFA GFA
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
30 Hangzhou Starry City 1,144,600 536,800 607,800
31 Hangzhou Garden 1872 370,500 237,600 132,900
32 Hangzhou Joy Bay 360,700 179,600 181,100
33 Hangzhou Lake & Mountain 224,800 224,800 —
34 Hangzhou Joy Mountain 225,000 225,000 -
35 Hangzhou Jianggan Niutian Land 122,900 122,900 -
36 Suzhou YueFu Mansion 210,500 210,500 -
(previous name: Suzhou Xuguan Land )
37 Suzhou Joy Bay (previous name: Suzhou Xuguan Land II) 116,300 116,300 -
38 Suzhou Taicang Xiangdong Island Land 988,300 241,600 746,700
Subtotal (Yangtze River Delta) 3,763,600 2,095,100 1,668,500
39 Wuhan International Financial City 598,900 598,900 -
40 Wuhan Hanyang Starry Winking 1,128,600 1,128,600 —
41 Wuhan Starry Bay 84,500 84,500 —
42 Wuhan Yuexiu Paradiso Mansion 42,200 42,200 —
43 Wuhan Caidian Land | 78,800 — 78,800
44 Wuhan Joy Mansion 171,700 171,700 —
45 Wuhan Yuexiu Paradiso Garden 210,000 210,000 —
46 Wuhan Huangpi Land 231,900 231,900 -
47 Xiangyang Lejin New District Land 1,092,000 130,600 961,400
Subtotal (Central China Region) 3,638,600 2,598,400 1,040,200
48 Shenyang Starry Winking 371,800 213,400 158,400
49 Shenyang Hill Lake 270,200 — 270,200
50 Yantai Elegant Mansion 78,600 78,600 —
51 Qingdao Elegant Mansion 61,700 61,700 -
52 Qingdao Licang Ocean Chemical Industry Land 211,900 — 211,900
53 Qingdao Licang Qingyin Highway East Land 666,300 — 666,300
54 Qingdao Jiaozhou Platinum Mansion 209,100 209,100 -
55 Ji’nan Baimai Delighted Mansion 565,400 565,400 -
(previous name: Ji’'nan Zhangqiu Land)
56 Ji'nan Gemdale Yuexiu Art Living 52,600 52,600 —
Subtotal (Bohai Rim) 2,487,600 1,180,800 1,306,800
57 Hainan Simapo Island Land 100,500 — 100,500
58 Hong Kong Yau Tong Project 72,100 — 72,100
Total 19,412,500 12,135,500 7,277,000
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CONSTRUCTION PROGRESS

The Group made efforts to speeds up the development efficiency and the turnover rate of the project. Project
development was progressing as scheduled during the period. New commencement of construction and completion
were in line with the Group’s schedule.

New commencement of construction and completion are summarised as follows:

Actual GFA  Planned GFA

Construction progress In 2018 for 2019

(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
New commencement of construction 5,927,300 5,057,700
Completion 2,590,000 2,946,200
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As of 31 December 2018, the Group owned investment properties under lease of approximately 600,500 sg.m. in total,
of which offices, commercial properties, car parks and others accounted for approximately 48.3%, 32.8% and 18.9%,
respectively. The Group recorded rental revenue of approximately RMB685 million in 2018, representing an increase of
10.8% year on year, which was mainly due to the increase in rental revenue of Yuexiu Financial Tower.

In 2018, the Group recorded net fair value gains on revaluation of investment properties of approximately RMB371
million, which was mainly due to the fair value gain on revaluation of Yuexiu Financial Tower for the year.

OTHER GAINS, NET

In 2018, the Group’s other gains, net amounted to approximately RMB1,040 million, representing an increase of
55.1% on a year-on-year basis. Other gains, net for the year of 2018 mainly included aggregate gains (before taxation)
of approximately RMB463 million upon the transfer of equity interest of two indirectly-owned subsidiaries, and
remeasurement gains (before taxation) on interest in associated entities of approximately RMB554 million.

SELLING AND MARKETING COSTS

In 2018, the Group’s selling and marketing costs were approximately RMB651 million, representing an increase of
5.1% year on year. The Group has always endeavored to implement effective marketing plans to control its selling and
marketing costs at an appropriate level.
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses amounted to approximately RMB1,045 million, representing an increase of
8.0% year on year. The administrative expenses accounted for 1.8% of the contracted sales for the year, down by 0.6
percentage point from 2.4% for last year. The Group continued to strengthen control over expenses and strictly followed
the annual expenses budget.

FINANCE COSTS, NET

The finance costs, net of the Group amounted to approximately RMB2.00 billion, representing an increase of 52.9% from
RMB1.31 billion for 2017. The increase was mainly due to the increase of aggregated amount of bank borrowings and
bonds by 11.9%; influenced by the tightening financing market, the average effective borrowing interest rate for the year
increased to 4.82% per annum from 4.30% per annum for 2017; and the net foreign exchange losses recorded for the
year as a result of the exchange differences for foreign currency denominated borrowings because of the exchange rate
fluctuation.

SHARE OF PROFIT FROM ASSOCIATED ENTITIES

In 2018, the overall net contribution from associated entities attributable to the Group decreased by 32.6% to
approximately RMB447 million as compared to that of last year, which was mainly due to the decrease of the profit
contribution from Yuexiu Real Estate Investment Trust (“Yuexiu REIT”).

In 2018, the total distributable amount of Yuexiu REIT amounted to approximately RMB850 million, representing an
increase of 2.8% on a year-on-year basis, and the cash distribution attributable to the Group amounted to approximately
RMB307 million.

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

In 2018, basic earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company (based on the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue) were RMB0.2200 (2017: RMB0.1823).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend for 2018 of HKDO0.051 per share which is equivalent to
RMBO0.044 per share (2017: HKD0.052 per share which was equivalent to RMB0.042 per share) payable to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company at the close of business on 6 June 2019. Subject to
the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, the final dividend will be paid on
or about 8 July 2019. Together with the interim dividend of HKD0.042 per share which was equivalent to approximately
RMBO0.036 per share, total dividends for the year ended 31 December 2018 will amount to HKDO0.093 per share which is
equivalent to approximately RMB0.080 per share.

Dividends payable to shareholders will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate adopted by the Company for its
dividend payable is the average middle exchange rate of HKD against RMB announced by the People’s Bank of China in
the five business days preceding the date of dividend declaration.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash receipts from operating activities and committed banking facilities are the Group’s main sources of liquidity. The
Group has always adhered to prudent financial management principles, emphasised on funding management and
risk control, established an ongoing monitoring system to respond to market changes, ensured healthy and adequate
liquidity and secured the business development. While continuing to maintain a good relationship with commercial banks
in Mainland China and Hong Kong, the Group also explores more funding channels, optimises the capital structure and
lowers the funding costs, enhances the ability to protect its resources, and enhances its risk resistance capabilities.

In 2018, the Group obtained new borrowings of approximately RMB43.65 billion, including onshore borrowings of
approximately RMB25.71 billion and offshore borrowings of approximately RMB17.94 billion. As at 31 December 2018,
total borrowings amounted to approximately RMB53.41 billion (31 December 2017: RMB47.71 billion), cash and cash
equivalents and charged bank deposits amounted to approximately RMB27.16 billion, and the net gearing ratio was
61.2%. Borrowings due within one year accounted for approximately 11% of the total borrowings (31 December 2017:
18%); fixed-rate borrowings accounted for approximately 57% of the total borrowings (31 December 2017: 59%). Due
to the tightening financing market, the Group’s average effective borrowing interest rate for the year increased by 0.52
percentage points to 4.82% per annum from 4.30% per annum for 2017.

As at 31 December 2018, among the Group'’s total borrowings, approximately 45% was RMB denominated bank
borrowings and other borrowings (31 December 2017: 51%), 10% was Hong Kong dollar denominated bank borrowings
(81 December 2017: 12%), 25% was Hong Kong dollar and US dollar denominated medium to long term notes (31
December 2017: 11%), 20% was RMB denominated medium to long term notes (31 December 2017: 17%).

WORKING CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s working capital (current assets less current liabilities) amounted to approximately
RMB61.01 billion (31 December 2017: approximately RMB43.75 billion). The Group’s current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) was 1.8 times (31 December 2017: 1.8 times). Cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately RMB21.99 billion (31 December 2017: RMB16.66 billion). Charged bank deposits amounted to
approximately RMB5.17 billion (31 December 2017: RMB4.14 billion). Undrawn committed bank facilities amounted to
approximately RMB17.63 billion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL STRUCTURE ANALYSIS

Set out below is a summary of the Group’s debts:

As at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bank borrowings and notes
Denominated in RMB 34,657,300 32,576,165
Denominated in HKD 7,144,488 7,800,797
Denominated in USD 11,604,151 3,248,142
Total bank borrowings and notes 53,405,939 43,625,104
Borrowings from an intermediate holding company = 4,083,760
Finance lease obligations 109 173
Bank overdrafts 57 51
Total debts 53,406,105 47,709,088
As at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Ageing analysis:
Within one year 5,786,145 8,461,626
In the second year 8,461,171 11,717,282
In the third to fifth year 31,380,146 18,985,178
Beyond five years 7,778,643 8,545,002
Total borrowings 53,406,105 47,709,088
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (21,990,512) (16,655,299)
Net borrowings 31,415,593 31,053,789
Total equity 42,911,718 36,988,918
Total capitalisation 74,327,311 68,042,707
Gearing ratio 42.3% 45.6%

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE

The Group’s major interest rate exposure is derived from loans and deposits denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollars and US dollars. As of 31 December 2018, among the total borrowings of the Group, approximately 33.6% was
floating rate bank loans denominated in Renminbi, approximately 9.6% was floating rate bank loans denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, approximately 13.6% was fixed rate bank loans denominated in Renminbi, approximately 17.7%
was medium-to-long term fixed rate bonds denominated in Renminbi, approximately 25.5% was medium-to-long
term fixed rate notes denominated in US dollars/Hong Kong dollars, in aggregate, fixed rate borrowings accounted for
approximately 57% of the total borrowings of the Group. Due to a higher proportion of fixed rate financing, domestic
liquidity began to surge in the second half of 2018, and the interest risks were under control, the Group did not enter into
any arrangement of interest rate hedging instruments during the reporting year. During the reporting year, the average
borrowing interest rate was approximately 4.82%, increased by 0.52 percentage point from 4.30% in 2017.

With respect to onshore Renminbi loan interest rates, the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) has continually cut interest
rates and reduced reserve requirement ratios (RRR) since November 2014. The one-year benchmark interest rate
dropped from 5.60% to the current level of 4.35%. In the first half of 2018, the liquidity was tight, and real lending rates in
the market rose significantly. In the second half of 2018, PBOC cut RRR three times to release liquidity, thereby loosening
market liquidity. Financing restrictions in the real estate sector remained. In 2019, concerning about the slowing down of
the domestic economy and the continuous impact of the trade war between US and China, the market uncertainties are
expected to remain high. In 2019, the domestic monetary policy is expected to be neutral and loosening.

With respect to the loan interest rates of US dollars and Hong Kong dollars, as a result of the sound US economy,
the US Federal Reserve raised interest rate nine times from December 2015 to the end of 2018. 2018 witnessed four
interest rate hikes, with an accumulative increase of approximately 1 %. The US Federal Reserve has appeared to adopt
more moderate stance recently. In 2019, the market is expected to withess one to two interest rate hikes by the US
Federal Reserve. Currently, there are abundant capital resources in the Hong Kong market. It is expected that the rate
adjustment for Hong Kong dollar loans will lag slightly behind the US dollar, but will follow the rise of the US interest rate.
The Group anticipates the offshore US/Hong Kong dollar loan interest rates may rise slightly as compared to 2018. The
Group will continue to monitor the changes of onshore and offshore interest rates, adjust and optimise its debt structure
and adopt appropriate financial instruments to manage its interest rate risk exposure in a timely manner.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since the main business operations of the Group are conducted in Mainland China, its income is primarily in Renminbi.
The Group has foreign currency denominated financing and is thus exposed to foreign exchange risk. Since 2016, the
Group has actively adopted various measures to manage foreign risk. As at 31 December 2018, approximately 35% (23%
at the beginning of the year) of the total borrowings of the Group was borrowings denominated in foreign currencies,
among which approximately HKD5.88 billion (equivalent to approximately RMB5.15 billion) was bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, approximately USD1.70 billion (equivalent to approximately RMB11.60 billion) was
medium-to-long term notes denominated in US dollars, and approximately HKD2.30 billion (equivalent to approximately
RMB2.00 billion) was medium-to-long term notes denominated in Hong Kong dollars, among which hedge products
were arranged for borrowings denominated in foreign currencies (equivalent to approximately RMB 4.99 billion) to
manage certain foreign exchange exposure.
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The Group will continue to keep track of developments in the foreign exchange market, strike a balance between interest
rate cost and foreign exchange risks, optimize debt structure and control foreign exchange risks. In 2018, the Group
adopted appropriate financial instruments to manage its foreign exchange exposure. In 2019, it is expected that the
Group will arrange suitable financial management products at reasonable costs to control foreign exchange exposure.

COMMITMENTS FOR PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

As of 31 December 2018, the Group’s capital commitments in respect of purchases of property, plant, equipment
amounted to approximately RMB798 million (31 December 2017: RMB1.27 billion).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage
loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals
together with accrued interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to
take over the legal title and possession of the related properties. Such guarantees shall terminate upon issuance of the
relevant property ownership certificates. As of 31 December 2018, total contingent liabilities relating to these guarantees
amounted to approximately RMB13.69 billion (31 December 2017: RMB8.43 billion).

As at 31 December 2018, certain subsidiaries of the Group provided guarantee up to a limit of approximately RMB2,130
million (831 December 2017: RMB450 million) in respect of loans borrowed by joint ventures and associated entities of
the Group, among which, guarantee of approximately RMB1,198 million was utilised and guarantee of approximately
RMB932 million was not utilised yet.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 8,190 employees (30 June 2018: 7,390 employees). The Group
offers its employees reasonable remuneration in accordance with industry practice. Salary increment and promotion of
employees are based on performance and achievements. In the meantime, the Group provides employees with other
benefits, such as mandatory provident funds, medical insurance, educational allowances and professional training. The
Group adopted the Share Incentive Scheme on 2 December 2016 and the Share Award Scheme on 17 March 2017.
Both of which will (i) provide the selected participants (including senior management, middle management and other
employees) with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company; (i) encourage and retain such individuals
to work with the Company and the Group; and (jii) provide additional incentive for them to achieve performance goals
and promote the pursuit of long-term interests of the Group, the Company and its shareholders, with a view to achieving
the objective of aligning the interests of the selected participants with those of the shareholders of the Company. Details
of the Share Incentive Scheme and Share Award Scheme have been respectively disclosed in the announcement dated
2 December 2016 and 17 March 2017.

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG”) POLICY

To better integrate the concept of social responsibility into the Group’ s strategies and decisions and to further direct its
social work practice, the senior management shall become the highest decision-making level of the ESG Management
to provide strategic guidance to the overall ESG management of the Group. Moreover, the senior management shall
on a timely basis report on risk control to the Board, assist the Board in the environment, social and governance risks
of Yuexiu Property, and understand and make relevant decisions.The Group complies with the relevant environmental
laws and regulations, sets out relevant environmental policies, meanwhile advances various aspects in green building
engineering design, energy management, waste recycling and reuse, so as to minimize wasting and increase recycling
and realizing sustainable vision of the Group.The Group seeks to create long-term value for stakeholders including
shareholders and investors, employees, customers, suppliers, governments, communities, trade associations, chambers
of commerce and the media.By close communication and coordination with the stakeholders, the Group pays active
attention to the stakeholders’ requirements and optimizes management by mainly referring to their feedbacks, so as
to achieve mutual progress and development. For more information about the environmental, social and governance
performance of the Group during the reporting year, please refer to the forthcoming independent environmental, social
and governance reports to be issued. Welcome to read or download the report on the Group’ s website upon its
issuance.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

Certain loan agreements of the Company and its subsidiary (“Loan Agreements”) respectively include a condition that
imposes one or more of the following specific performance obligations on Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, or (as the case may be) Guangzhou Yue Xiu Holding Limited, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company:

(i) the controlling shareholder remains to be the single largest beneficial shareholder of the Company;

(i)  the controlling shareholder maintains a shareholding interest of not less than 35% in the issued voting shares of the
Company;

(i)  the controlling shareholder maintains effective management control over the Company.

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate balance of the loans provided in Renminbi was RMB5,885,270,000. Such Loan
Agreements will expire from 24 January 2020 to 29 December 2022.

Breach of the above specific performance obligations will constitute an event of default. Upon the occurrence of such
event of default, the relevant bank may declare the relevant facility to be terminated and all the indebtedness under the
relevant facility would become due and payable.
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On 24 January 2013, the Company issued USD350 million 3.25 per cent. notes due 2018 (the “2018 Notes”) and
USD500 million 4.50 per cent. notes due 2023 (the “2023 Notes”) to investors under a USD2,000 million medium term
note programme established on 11 January 2013. The Company has completed the redemption and cancellation of all
the 2018 Notes. Since 17 August 2016, there are no outstanding 2018 Notes in issue. With effect from 29 December
2016, (i) the Company has substituted in its place Leading Affluence Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as the issuer and the principal debtor in respect of the 2023 Notes; and (ii) the 2023 Notes are unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed by the Company. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the programme, Guangzhou Yue Xiu
Holding Limited is required to maintain control (as defined in the announcement dated 17 January 2013) of the Company.
Breach of the above obligation will cause a default under the terms and conditions whereby the noteholders are entitled
to exercise their change of control put options.

On 19 April 2018, Westwood Group Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company issued
USD800 million 4.875 per cent. notes due 2021 and USD400 million 5.375 per cent. notes due 2023 to investors under
a USD3,000 million guaranteed medium term note programme established on 4 April 2018. Pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the programme, Guangzhou Yue Xiu Holding Limited is required to maintain control (as defined in the
announcement dated 12 April 2018) of the Company. Breach of the above obligation will cause a default under the terms
and conditions whereby the noteholders are entitled to exercise their change of control put options.

These obligations have been duly complied with for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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REGION GFA (sq.m.)
Greater Bay Area 48.5% 9,422,200
Guangzhou 7,620,100
Foshan 667,400
Jiangmen 909,500
Zhongshan 153,100
Hong Kong 72,100
Yangtze River Delta 19.4% 3,763,600
Hangzhou 2,448,500
Suzhou 1,315,100
Central China Region 18.8% 3,638,600
Wuhan 2,546,600
Xiangyang 1,092,000
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
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GUANGZHOU

Huadu Elegant Mansion ({fE#%U{AT) is located at
the Binshui New Town, Huadu District, Guangzhou. It
is the golden hinterland connecting the three economic
circles: the Guangzhou North Railway Station New Town,
Airport Economic Circle and CBD Central Axis, enjoying
a convenient and multi-dimensional traffic. The project
is supported with Huadu Branch of Guangzhou Library,

NANSHA
BINHAI NEW TOWN

RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 1,014,100 SQ.M.

Nansha Binhai New Town (E82/& /&%) is located in the
Jiaomen River downtown of Nansha District, Guangzhou
City, which is focused on the development of urban
service functions with a range of major municipal facilities
on plan, including hotels and hospitals. The project is
expected to comprise 38 high-rise apartment buildings
with integrated kindergarten, primary school and middle
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HUADU
ELEGANT MANSION

RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 222,200 SQ.M.

which is interlinked with the General Library of Guangzhou
Library. In addition, there are schools, shopping malls,
hospitals and other peripheral core supporting projects,
which makes Huadu Elegant Mansion become the model
of residential area at Huadu Binshui New Town.

school. The project will also be equipped with community
commercial and sports facilities such as a plastic annular
track and a swimming pool. It is adjacent to the Jinzhou
commercial district, the most mature one in Nansha at
present, representing tremendous room for value growth.
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FOSHAN & JIANGMEN

Nanhai Starry Mansion (F)8Z£[E#/T) is located
at the junction of Shenhai Road and Guiping Road in
Guicheng, Nanhai District, Foshan City. The surrounding
roads are well developed. It is only 15 minutes’ drive from
Liwan District, Guangzhou City. The Project is another
outstanding model of the Group’s “Starry” Series. The
project plan includes building 22 high-rise residential
buildings with various and practical household types. The

JIANGMEN
YUEXIU BINJIANG CITY GLORY

RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 351,200 SQ.M.

Jiangmen Yuexiu Binjiang City Glory (T FI#F5E T %
1) is located at the junction of Jiangmen Avenue and
Huasheng Road in Binjiang New Area, Pengjiang District,
Jiangmen City. The project is committed to building a
high-quality commercial and residential complex, including
villas, apartments, service apartments, office buildings
and other diverse functional buildings. The project is

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

NANHAI
STARRY MANSION

RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 567,100 SQ.M.

project surrounding boasts full-age education system,
shopping malls, hospitals, parks, administrative service
authorities, and other functional settings.

set with swimming pools and fresh market, while the
surrounding support is complete as well, including the
primary school, municipal parks, inter-city railway Binjiang
Station, hospitals, sports center, so as to meet the high-
quality living demands of residents.

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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HANGZHOU

Located in Genbei New Town, Jianggan District,
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, Hangzhou Joy Bay
(FL N K15 T 7) is easily accessible in close proximity to
the Qibao station of Hangzhou Metro Line No.1, as well
as the east-west main avenue of Genbei New Town.
Positioned as a large high-end multi-purpose complex in
the urban area, the project benefits from rich education

HANGHZHOU
LAKE & MOUNTAIN

RESIDENTIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 224,800 SQ.M.

Hanghzhou Lake & Mountain (#/1#1L15%) is located in
the Binhu New Area, the core of Lin’an District, Hangzhou
City, Zhejiang Province. It is easily accessible and
adjacent to the Nonglin University station of Hangzhou-
Lin’an Inter-city Railway, which is under construction. The
project is close to major commercial complexes and the
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HANGZHOU
JOY BAY

RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 360,700 SQ.M.

resources and a planned park in the neighborhood, which
will provide excellent landscape resources for leisure.
Genbei New Town is an important area for Hangzhou’s
urban expansion towards the east, and will be built
into a new commercial center and a major residential
area in Jianggan District with huge potential for future
development.

Qingshan Lake National Forest Park, enjoying excellent
living and ecological landscape resources. In 2017, Lin’an
has become a district of Hangzhou City instead of a
county-level city, which will further drive the urbanization
of the area, supporting its future development.
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SUZHOU & WUHAN

Suzhou YueFu Mansion (BRMIEUIAT) is located in
Xushuguan District, High-tech Zone, Suzhou City, Jiangsu
Province. The project is located at the core of the area,
which is an important comprehensive transportation
hub. The three-railway interchange is very convenient,
the surrounding commercial and education settings

WUHAN
YUEXIU PARADISO GARDEN

RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 210,000 SQ.M.

Wuhan Yuexiu Paradiso (E./Z 75 1%3%) sits at Quanli First
Road of Wuhan Economy and Technology Development
Zone in proximity to Houguan Lake with superior natural
view. The project is planned to be developed into 14
high-rise residential buildings with established education
and healthcare facilities to meet the needs of owners
in the community. The project is easily accessible
and adjacent to tram stations. Wuhan Economy and

SUZHOU
YUEFU MANSION

RESIDENTIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 210,500 SQ.M.

are complete, and it is close to large supermarkets and
primary and secondary schools. The project building
embodies the Oriental aesthetic style, and is matched
with advanced smart household system, so as to meet
customers’ requirements for high-level living quality.

Technology Development Zone has become a multi-
function integrated area led by automobiles, parts
and components, electronics and electric appliances
manufacturing. It is an important cluster for foreign
enterprises operating in China as well as an important
powerhouse for economic growth in Wuhan and Hubei,
creating distinct advantage and huge growth potential for
the project.

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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WUHAN & J'NAN

Wuhan Hanyang Starry Winking (22%5E£EZ48)

is located at Yangsi Port, Hanyang District, Wuhan City,
Hubei Province. It situates in the core section of the main
axis of Wuhan New Port Yangtze River New Town. The
project is built along the Yangtze River and boasts first-
class Yangtze River view residential buildings. It is near
the Qianjin Village Station of Metro Line 6. The project

JI’NAN
BAIMAI DELIGHTED MANSION

RESIDENTIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 565,400 SQ.M.

Ji’nan Baimai Delighted Mansion (ER & IRIEAT) is
located at Zhangqiu New Town District, Ji’nan City,
Shandong Province. It is the first important thrust of the
Group into Jinan City. The project faces Baimaiquan in
the north and overlooks Taiyi Mountain Forest Park in
the south. It is close to the Zhanggiu District Government
and the Municipal Cultural and Expo Center. The
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WUHAN
HANYANG STARRY WINKING

RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 1,128,600 SQ.M.

is surrounded by comprehensive education system,
hospitals, shopping malls and parks, satisfying the
owners’ requirements for lifestyle and living environment.
With the opening of newly built Yangsi Port Yangtze River
Bridge in the proximity of the project, the zone of Yangsi
Port will usher in a stronger development momentum and
boast the potential of adding value.

project is also close to the East Complex, one of the five
major urban complexes of Zhangqgiu. Meanwhile, it is
surrounded by the planned high-level medical center, key
primary schools and secondary schools. The area boasts
a convenient transportation, and direct light railway
connection, with a 30 minutes trip to the downtown of
Jinan city, opening Zhanggiu new era of residence.
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Yantai Elegant Mansion (& E1HAT) is located at the
intersection of Beijing Middle Road and Huanghe Road
in Yantai Development Zone, Yantai City, Shandong
Province. The project has a low plot ratio and integrates
the buildings with environment naturally. It adopts the
style of small high-rise apartment buildings, which means

SHENYANG
STARRY WINKING

RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 371,800 SQ.M.

Shenyang Starry Winking (5 £ [E 2 £8) sits at the
junction of Nanta Street and Shenshui Road at the core
of Shenhe District, Shenyang City, Liaoning Province. It
enjoys superior natural landscape from Wuli River Park
and Hun River, Shenyang’s biggest river park in the
south, which offers open and broad views. The project
is adjacent to the Wuli River commercial district with

YANTAI
ELEGANT MANSION

RESIDENTIAL PROJECT
LANDBANK GFA: 78,600 SQ.M.

one or two department units for a single floor, satisfying
the needs of low-density residence and enjoying the
optimal sunshine. The project is equipped with a circular
runway, basketball court, garden lawn, so that residents
may get close to nature.

a strong business atmosphere. It also benefits from a
full range of quality educational resources from nearby
kindergartens, primary and middle schools. The project is
planned to comprise 14 apartment buildings, with a view
to building a benchmark for luxury residence in Shenyang
by living up to the high standards set by Yuexiu Property
for its Starry product line.

Yuexiu Property Company Limited
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INVESTOR RELATIONS REPORT

In 2018, under the premise of abiding by regulations of listed companies, the Group disseminated information such as
business performance and the latest developments to the capital market and disclosed information, in order to further
enhance investors’ understanding and confidence in the Group.

The Group valued the opportunity of close communication with its shareholders and investors, released and delivered
important information about the Group’s operations and development on a timely and accurate basis in various manners
such as roadshows, investment conferences held by investment banks, one-on-one meetings, conference calls as well
as site visits to projects. The Chairman and senior executives of the Group attended various investor relations activities,
listened to the opinions of shareholders and investors through face-to-face communication, responded to questions
related to the Company’s performance information and business strategy, and conducted in-depth discussions. In
addition, attributed to the increasing sophistication of “Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect” and “Shenzhen-Hong
Kong Stock Connect”, the Group also strengthened its expansion in the domestic capital market, increased performance
roadshow activities in Mainland China, and attended strategic meetings held by domestic securities firms, so as to further
widen the breadth in the domestic capital market.

While actively exporting information to the capital market to maintain contact, the Group’s Investor Relations Team
provided feedback to the Board of Directors and management on the views and suggestions from the capital market
on the operation of the Group by collecting and collating the opinions of shareholders and investors, preparing the work
report on investor relations, organizing reverse roadshows and other ways, so as to establish a smooth communication
bridge between the capital market and the directors and management of the Company. Through the above efforts, the
team refined and sorted out the feedback opinions from the capital market as an important reference for the management

/ N
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of the Group to the strategy of the Company’s future development, so as to create greater value for shareholders and
investors.

During 2018, the Group had organised or participated in more than 100 meetings and events on investor relations, and
carried out interviews with more than 500 investors, in which, the major investor relations activities are as follows:

2018 MAJOR INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

Month Venue Activity
February Hong Kong Yuexiu Property 2017 Annual Results Announcement Conference
March Hong Kong Yuexiu Property 2017 Annual Results NDR
March Shenzhen Yuexiu Property 2017 Annual Results NDR
March Hong Kong Morgan Stanley 8th Hong Kong Investor Conference
April Singapore Yuexiu Property US Bonds Issuance Road Show Conference
April London Yuexiu Property US Bonds Issuance Road Show Conference
May Beijing JP Morgan 2018 Annual Global China Summit
June Hong Kong Yuexiu Property Annual General Meeting
June Hong Kong Credit Suisse Hong Kong Real Restate Enterprise Day
June Hong Kong Citi’s Asia Pacific Property Conference
July Guangzhou Guang Zheng Hang Seng Interim Strategy Meeting
August Hong Kong Yuexiu Property 2018 Interim Results Announcement Conference
August Hong Kong Yuexiu Property 2018 Interim Results NDR
September Singapore Yuexiu Property 2018 Interim Results NDR
November Greater Bay Area Sell-side Analysts’ Tour to the Greater Bay Area
and Management Meeting
November Macau Citi China Investor Conference 2018
November Singapore Morgan Stanley 17th Annual Asia Pacific Summit

For any enquiries, please send Emails to ir@yuexiuproperty.com and we will reply as soon as possible according to the
relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the website of the Group (www.yuexiuproperty.com) also contains details of
business development and operation, financial information, corporate governance and other information of the Group for
public inspection.
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Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Top20 of China Listed Property Company Green
Gold Award 2018 Credit Index 2018
Social Responsibility Best Initiative Award 2018 The Investment Consulting Special Committee of IAC.

The Asset Magazine
Annual Award for Corporate Branding 2018

Listed Company Awards of Excellence 2018 Southern Metropolis Daily

Hong Kong Economic Journal
Annual Award for Urban Value Contribution 2018

China Property Award of Supreme Excellence 2018 LEJU

Organizing Committee of China Property Award

of Supreme Excellence LEED EBOM V4: PLATINUM -

Guangzhou International Finance Center
Best in ESG Awards (Mid Cap) U.S. Green Building Council
Best in ESG Reporting Awards (Mid Cap)
BDO

Five Star Pension Institutions -
Guangzhou Yiyuan Pension Co., Ltd.

The Group’s Annual Report for the Year of 2017 Department of Civil Affairs of Guangdong Province

Was Awarded:

ARC Annual Report Awards -
Traditional Annual Report: Property Development:
Various & Multi-Use: Gold Winner

ARC Annual Report Awards -
Traditional Annual Report: Property Development:
Commercial: Silver Winner
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Lin Zhaoyuan, aged 49, was appointed Chairman of the Company in August 2018. Mr Lin has been an executive
director of the Company since November 2015. He had been Vice Chairman and General Manager of the Company. He
is also chairman of the board of Guangzhou City Construction & Development Co. Ltd. (“GCCD”). Mr Lin holds a bachelor
degree of economics and a master of business administration degree of the Sun Yat-sen University and the qualification
of mechanical engineer. He had been chairman of the board of Guangzhou Paper Group Limited, an assistant to general
manager and a deputy general manager of Guangzhou Yue Xiu Holding Limited (“Guangzhou Yue Xiu”), the ultimate
holding company of the Company, and Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited (“Yue Xiu”), and chairman and a non-
executive director of Yuexiu REIT Asset Management Limited (the manager of Yuexiu Real Estate Investment Trust, which
is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 405)). Mr Lin has extensive
experience in corporate management, sound and efficient management, cost control and corporate restructuring and
development and is more forward-looking and innovative in corporate operations and management.

Mr Lin Feng, aged 48, was appointed Vice Chairman, executive director and General Manager of the Company
in August 2018. Mr Lin is also a director and general manager of GCCD, chairman of Hangzhou Yuexiu Property
Development Limited and Chengdu Yuexiu Property Development Limited and director of Guangzhou Yuexiu Commercial
Real Estate Investment & Management Co., Limited. Mr Lin graduated from Guangdong University of Finance &
Economics (formerly known as Guangdong Commercial College) in accounting with a Bachelor 's degree in economics.
Mr Lin holds a Master’s degree in business administration from the University of Western Sydney and the qualification
of accountant awarded by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China. Since 1994, Mr Lin has joined
Guangzhou City Construction Development Holding Co., Limited. He served as deputy general manager of Finance
Department and Corporate Management Department, general manager of Finance Department of GCCD, assistant to
general manager of the Company and the general manager of urban renewal projects group (i.e., the Company’s urban
renewal sector). He has served as a deputy general manager of the Company since 2014 and has been in charge of
investment sector, finance sector and business operation within East China. He has also participated in various major
capital operation and financing projects of the Company with extensive experience in enterprise investment decision
making and funds management.
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Mr Li Feng, aged 50, was appointed executive director of the Company in March 2014. Mr Li is the chief capital officer
of Guangzhou Yue Xiu and Yue Xiu and oversees the capital department, customer resource management and synergy
department, and the information centre of Guangzhou Yue Xiu and Yue Xiu. He is mainly responsible for formulating
and implementing major capital management plans, organizing and coordinating the investor relationship of the listed
companies, optimizing and synergizing the customer resources, and enhancing the development of information
technology system. Mr Li is also a director of GCCD and chairman and a non-executive director of Yuexiu Financial
Holdings Limited (“YFHL”). He is also a non-executive director of Yuexiu REIT Asset Management Limited (the manager
of Yuexiu Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock Code: 405)), a non-executive director of Chong Hing Bank Limited (“Chong
Hing Bank”) (Stock Code: 1111), an executive director of Yuexiu Transport Infrastructure Limited (“Yuexiu Transport”)
(Stock Code: 1052), the shares of the companies mentioned above are listed on the Stock Exchange and a director of
Guangzhou Yuexiu Financial Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (B/MN#HE S B EBR N AR A F) (“GZYFHL”), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 987). Mr Li graduated from the Faculty of Naval Architecture and
Ocean Engineering of South China University of Technology majoring in naval architecture and obtained a master of
business administration degree from Jinan University. He holds the qualification of a Senior Engineer in China and the
certificate in Major Administrative Decision-Making and Argumentation (E/M ™ EARITHBURER#HEZEZXK) conferred by
the Guangzhou Municipal Government, he is also a president of Association of Guangzhou Belt and Road Investment
Enterprises, secretary-general of Council for the Promotion of Guangzhou-HongKong-Macao Cooperation, director of
Guangzhou People’s Association for Friendship with Foreign Countries and vice-president of The Listed Companies
Council, Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association. Mr Li joined Yue Xiu in December 2001 and has successively held
positions in Guangzhou Yue Xiu and Yue Xiu including the assistant to general manager, assistant manager of corporate
management department, assistant to general manager of supervision and auditing department, deputy general manager
of capital department and deputy general manager of Yue Xiu International Development Limited. Mr Li is familiar with
business of listed companies and the operations of capital markets. Since 2008, he has participated in all of the major
capital operation projects of Guangzhou Yue Xiu and Yue Xiu; before that, he was also involved in the successful listing of
Yuexiu Real Estate Investment Trust and has extensive practical experience in capital operations.

Ms Chen Jing, aged 47, was appointed executive director of the Company in July 2017. Ms Chen is the chief financial
officer of the Company. She is also the chief financial officer and general manager of the finance department of
Guangzhou Yue Xiu and Yue Xiu, a director of GCCD, chairman of the board of directors of Yue Xiu Securities Holdings
Company Limited, a non-executive director of YFHL and Chong Hing Bank and an executive director of Yuexiu Transport.
Ms Chen graduated from Xi’an Jiaotong University in audit studies, and holds a master of business administration degree
of the School of Management and Economics of the Beijing Institute of Technology and the qualification of auditor and
certified internal auditor. Ms Chen joined Guangzhou Yue Xiu in July 2004 and was the deputy general manager of
the supervisory (audit) office and the general manager of the audit department. Ms Chen has participated in building
systems to monitor the major risks and finance of Guangzhou Yue Xiu. Ms Chen is well versed in risk and internal control
management, financial management of listed companies and has extensive experience in establishing a sound system
for risk management and internal control, financial management for enterprises. Prior to joining Guangzhou Yue Xiu, Ms
Chen worked in school of business of the Hubei University and Hisense Kelon Electrical Holdings Company Limited.

Ms Liu Yan, aged 40, was appointed executive director of the Company in August 2018. Ms Liu is the chief human
resources officer and general manager of management department of Guangzhou Yue Xiu and Yue Xiu, general manager
of the human resources (organization) department of Guangzhou Yue Xiu and human resources department of Yue Xiu.
She is also a director of GCCD, GZYFHL, Guangzhou Yuexiu Jinrong Holdings Group Co., Limited, Guangzhou Yuexiu
Financial Leasing Co., Limited, Shanghai Yuexiu Finance Leasing Co., Limited and Guangzhou Paper Group Limited. Ms
Liu graduated from Nankai University with a Bachelor ’s degree in sociology and a Master’s degree in sociology and from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University with an Executive Master of business administration degree. She holds the qualification of
Human Resources Management and Economics (intermediate level). Ms Liu joined Guangzhou Yue Xiu in July 2002 and
was the head of human resources of Guangzhou Yue Xiu and Yue Xiu. She has led the implementation of several major
projects for Guangzhou Yue Xiu on mobilization and optimization of human resources, development of appraisal system
and sound and efficient management. Ms Liu has extensive work experience in human resources management and
operation management in large business enterprises.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Yu Lup Fat Joseph, aged 71, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 1992. He is
also an independent non-executive director of YFHL and Chong Hing Bank. Mr Yu holds a master’s degree in applied
finance from Macquarie University in Australia and a diploma of management studies from the University of Hong Kong.
Mr Yu has over 40 years of experience in investment, banking and finance.

Mr Lee Ka Lun, aged 64, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 2000. He is also
an independent non-executive director of YFHL and Chong Hing Bank. He is an accountant by profession. Mr Lee is
a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in UK and has over 20 years of experience in banking
and auditing. He is an independent non-executive director of Chow Sang Sang Holdings International Limited (Stock
Code: 116), Medicskin Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8307), Ever Harvest Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1549)
and Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2360) (effective 18 December 2018). The shares of the companies
mentioned above are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr Lau Hon Chuen, GBS, JP, alias Ambrose Lau, aged 71, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 2004. He obtained a bachelor of laws degree from the University of London and is a Solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong, a China-Appointed Attesting Officer and a Notary Public. Mr Lau is the Senior Partner of
Messrs. Chu & Lau, Solicitors & Notaries. Mr Lau is currently an independent non-executive director of China Jinmao
Holdings Group Limited (Stock Code: 817), Glorious Sun Enterprises Limited (Stock Code: 393), Yuexiu Transport,
Joy City Property Limited (Stock Code: 207) and Brightoil Petroleum (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 933). The shares
of the companies mentioned above are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also a Director of Bank of China Group
Insurance Company Limited, BOC Group Life Assurance Company Limited, Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited, Sun
Hon Investment & Finance Limited, Wydoff Limited, Wytex Limited, Trillions Profit Nominees & Secretarial Services
Limited, Helicoin Limited, Wyman Investments Limited and Cinda Financial Holdings Co., Limited. Mr Lau served as the
Chairman of the Central and Western District Board between 1988 and 1994, the President of the Law Society of Hong
Kong in 1992-1993, a Member of the Bilingual Laws Advisory Committee between 1988 and 1997 and a Member of
the Legislative Council of Hong Kong from 1995 to 2004 (between 1997 and 1998 he was a member of the Provisional
Legislative Council). He has served as a Standing Committee Member of the 10th, 11th and 12th National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the Company’s healthy growth and has
devoted considerable efforts to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct
and growth of its business.

The Company'’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles and the code provisions (“Code Provisions”)
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of The Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has complied with the Code Provisions save for those in
respect of the appointment of non-executive directors for a specific term under Code Provision A.4.1, details of which
are explained below.

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet the
requirements of the CG Code.

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Company plays a crucial role in sustaining high standards of corporate
governance, transparency and accountability of the Company’s operations.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are summarised below:

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for
leadership and control of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs in the interests of the Company.

The Board has delegated the supervision of the day-to-day management of the Company’s business to the executive
directorate, and focuses its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic policies and finances,
including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall business strategies and budgets, corporate governance,
internal control and risk management systems, financial statements, dividend policy, major financial arrangements and
major investments, treasury policies, appointment of directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the company
secretary or external legal advisors, where appropriate, with a view to ensuring compliance of all Board procedures,
applicable rules and regulations.

Each director may seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon
request to the Board.
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Composition

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business
of the Company and to the exercise of independent judgment. The Board comprised five executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors during the year ended 31 December 2018.

For a list of directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this annual report, please refer to
page 65 of the Report of the Directors. The updated list of directors is also available on the Company’s website (www.
yuexiuproperty.com) and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Selection of Board members is based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected Board members could bring to the Board, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board diversity policy is available on the website of the Company.
The Board will review and monitor from time to time the implementation of the policy to ensure its effectiveness and
application.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise. The number
of independent non-executive directors on the Board meets one-third requirement under the Listing Rules throughout the
year.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all independent non-executive
directors to be independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests
and serving on Board committees, all independent non-executive directors made valuable contributions to the effective
direction of the Company.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. None of the non-executive directors of the Company is appointed for a specific term. However, all the non-
executive directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at the general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. All the non-executive directors of the Company had retired by
rotation during the past 3 years. They have been re-elected.

Shareholders may propose a candidate for election as director in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company. The procedures for such proposal are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Training for Directors

On appointment to the Board, each director receives a comprehensive induction package covering business operations,
policies and procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a director
to ensure that he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, all directors and senior executives are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development relating
to the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and corporate governance practices to continuously update and further
improve their relevant knowledge and skills. From time to time, directors are provided with written training materials to
develop and refresh their professional knowledge and skills.

During the year, the Company arranged training programmes and provided training materials to the Directors with an
emphasis on national economic landscape and real estate development trends, latest updates of the Listing Rules
regarding corporate government and newly development of financial technology etc. According to the records maintained
by the Company, the Directors received trainings in the following areas:

Directors Corporate Governance/Updates
on Laws, Rules & Regulations

Read Attended

Materials Seminars/

Briefings

Executive Directors

Zhang Zhaoxing (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018) \/ \
Zhu Chunxiu (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018) \ S
Lin Zhaoyuan \ S
Lin Feng (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018) J v
Li Feng \/ \
Chen Jing \ S
Liu Yan (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018) \ S
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Yu Lup Fat Joseph \ S
Lee Ka Lun \ \
Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose \ \
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Board Meetings

In year 2018, the Board held 4 meetings and approved matters by way of written resolutions circulated to them (in total
of 22 times) in between the meetings. The attendance record of each member of the Board is set out below:

Directors Attendance/Number of Meetings
Annual
Board General General
Meetings Meeting Meeting

Executive Directors

Zhang Zhaoxing (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018) 3/3 1/1 0/1
Zhu Chunxiu (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018) 2/3 0N 0/1
Lin Zhaoyuan 4/4 1/1 11
Lin Feng (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018) 11 N/A N/A
Li Feng 3/4 01 0/1
Chen Jing 4/4 11 11
Liu Yan (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018) 11 N/A N/A

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Yu Lup Fat Joseph 4/4 11 11
Lee Ka Lun 4/4 1/1 11
Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose 4/4 11 11

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all directors at least three days
before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management as and when they deemed appropriate.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the company secretary. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’
inspection.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board mesting. The Company’s Articles of Association also contain provisions requiring directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

The Company has arranged director and officer liability insurances for its directors and officers.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

On 14 August 2018, Mr Zhang Zhaoxing resigned as the Chairman of the Company and thereafter Mr Lin Zhaoyuan
serves as Chairman of the Company. On the same date, Mr Lin Zhaoyuan resigned as General Manager of the Company
and thereafter Mr Lin Feng serves as General Manager of the Company.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the senior management, the Chairman is also responsible
for ensuring that the directors receive adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate
briefing on issues arising at Board meetings.

The General Manager focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and delegated by the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference. The full terms of reference of these committees are available on
the Company’s website (www.yuexiuproperty.com) and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors (including one independent non-executive
director who possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise) and Mr Yu Lup Fat Joseph is the chairman of the committee. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@ To review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees and
terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditor.

(b)  To review the financial statements and reports and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the qualified
accountant or external auditor before submission to the Board.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems, the internal audit function and associated procedures.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2018 to review the financial results and
reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control system and risk management system and the
re-appointment of the external auditors. The composition of the Audit Committee and attendance record of each Audit
Committee member are set out below:

Members Meetings
Attended

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Yu Lup Fat Joseph 2/2
Lee Ka Lun 2/2
Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose 2/2

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive directors, namely Mr Yu Lup Fat Joseph, Mr Lee
Ka Lun and Mr Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose, and one executive director, namely Mr Lin Zhaoyuan. The chairman of the
committee is Mr Yu Lup Fat Joseph.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations on the remuneration policy and
structure, and recommendations on the remuneration packages of the executive directors and the senior management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments such as compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of his associates will
participate in deciding his own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance of
the individual and the Company as well as market practice and conditions.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee and attendance record of each Remuneration Committee member are
set out below:

Members Meeting
Attended

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Yu Lup Fat Joseph 11
Lee Ka Lun 11
Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose 11

Executive Director
Zhang Zhaoxing (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018) 11
Lin Zhaoyuan (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018) N/A

One meeting was held in 2018 to review and make recommendations on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and remuneration packages of the executive directors for the year under review and the remuneration of newly
appointed executive directors.
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Nomination Committee

The Board established the Nomination Committee on 1 March 2012. The Nomination Committee comprises 2 executive
directors and 3 independent non-executive directors. The committee is chaired by the Chairman of the Board.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee includes reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, assessing the independence of the independent non-executive directors and making recommendations on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship, the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors. In assessing the Board composition and the candidate proposed to the Nomination Committee for
consideration, the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. Board members’ appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board is currently
comprised of diversified members, including 8 directors, two of whom are females (2017: one). Five executive directors
are experienced in finance, accounting, capital operations, real estate development, human resource management
and operation management, and the other three directors, being the independent non-executive directors, contribute
extensive experiences in the legal and compliance, acquisition and mergers, capital operations as well as financial
businesses to the Board. In order to ensure that the Board possesses experiences and skills relevant to its strategy and
the ability and mindset to manage changes from time to time in new generation, the Nomination Committee formulates
the following measurable objectives: gender, age, length of tenure, professional experience and knowledge (e.g. legal,
accounting, finance, real estate development and capital management, etc.), reviews the diversity of the Board and
makes proposal to the Board if necessary.

2
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40-50 W 71 and above B Male Executive Director
W 60-70 B Female [l Independent Non-executive Director
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Procedures of Appointment of Directors

In accordance with the strategic needs of the Board, suitable candidates are identified for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee would consider such candidates based on various factors such
as the gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service set out in the Board Diversity Policy. Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy and
recommendation will be made to the Board based on objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board. The Board will ultimately decide on the merits of the candidate and their potential contributions to the
Board. New directors so appointed shall be re-elected at the Company’s general meeting as required by the Articles of
Association.

The composition of the Nomination Committee and the attendance record of each Nomination Committee member are
set out below:

Members Meeting
Attended

Executive Directors

Zhang Zhaoxing (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018) 11
Zhu Chunxiu (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018) 11
Lin Zhaoyuan (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018) N/A
Li Feng (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018) N/A

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Yu Lup Fat Joseph 11
Lee Ka Lun 11
Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose 11

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 December 2018 to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made to all the directors concerning their compliance with the Model Code and all the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information have been requested to
comply with the provisions of the Model Code. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Yu Tat Fung has been the company secretary of the Company since 2004. He is the Group General Counsel of
Yue Xiu, and also the company secretary of Yue Xiu, Yuexiu Transport and Yuexiu REIT Asset Management Limited,
the manager of Yuexiu Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock Code: 405). Mr Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Social
Sciences from the University of Hong Kong in 1981. He attained the Solicitors Final Examination in England in 1983. He
was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1986. He was also admitted to the Bar of the Province
of British Columbia in Canada in 1995. Prior to joining the Company in 1997, he was engaged in private practice with an
emphasis on corporate and commercial law. Mr Yu is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters. During
2018, Mr Yu has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements and auditor’s remuneration

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2018.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

The remuneration paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the Company in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately RMB6,000,000 and
RMB2,000,000 respectively.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard shareholders’ interests and
Company’s assets and for review, through its Audit Committee, of the effectiveness of the system. The internal auditor
shall review and evaluate the control process and monitor any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the variances and identified risks. The internal control system of the
Group is designed to facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to safeguard assets of the Group against
material errors, losses or fraud. However, any internal control system can provide only reasonable but not absolute
assurance of full protection against material errors, losses, fraud or failure to meet its business objectives.
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In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks to increase risk awareness of its business operations and puts in
place policies and procedures, including the parameters of delegated authority, to provide for the identification and
management of business risk. The Board assumes overall responsibility in monitoring the operation of the businesses
within the Group. Executive directors are appointed to the Boards of all significant material operating subsidiaries to
attend their board meetings and to oversee the operations of those companies. Monitoring activities include the review
and approval of business strategies, budgets and plans, and the setting of key business performance targets. The
executive management team of each core business division is accountable for the conduct and performance of each
business in the division within the agreed strategies and similarly the management of each business is accountable for its
conduct and performance.

Business plans and budgets are prepared annually by the management of individual businesses which are subject
to review and approval by both the executive management teams and the executive directors as part of the Group’s
corporate planning. The executive directors hold monthly meetings to review management reports on the business
results and key operating statuses of each core business.

The Group has established procedures and guidelines for the approval and control of expenditure. Operating expenditure
is subject to overall budget control and is controlled within each business with the approval levels for such expenditure
being set by reference to the level of responsibility of each executive and officer.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Company. The Board believes that the internal control system is adequate and effective and does not note
any material deviation.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company also recognises the
importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors
to make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairman of the board committees are available to answer questions at the general
meetings. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments.
Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains a website at www.yuexiuproperty.com, where extensive
information and updates on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are posted.

Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company (other than on procedural and administrative matters)
are taken by poll. Procedures regarding the conduct of the poll are explained to the shareholders at the commencement
of each general meeting, and questions from shareholders regarding the voting procedures are answered. The poll
results are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange respectively on the same day as the poll.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company. Pursuant to Sections 566 to 568 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong), shareholder(s) of the Company representing at least 5%
of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company, may request
the directors to call a general meeting of the Company. The requisition must state the general nature of the business to
be dealt with at the meeting; and may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at the meeting. The requisition may consist of several documents in like form. The requisition may be sent to the
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form; and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it. If the
directors of the Company do not within 21 days after the date on which they become subject to the requirement call
a general meeting for a date not more than 28 days after the date of notice convening the meeting, the shareholder(s)
concerned, or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
call a general meeting, and the meeting must be called for a date not more than 3 months after the date on which the
directors become subject to the requirement to call a meeting. Pursuant to Sections 615 and 616 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong), shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights
of all shareholders having a right to vote on the resolution at an annual general meeting to which the request (mentioned
below) relates, or at least 50 shareholders having a right to vote on the resolution at an annual general meeting to which
the request relates, may submit a written request to put forward a resolution which may properly be moved at an annual
general meeting.

The Company is committed to maintaining a relatively stable and sustainable dividend policy. The dividend policy is
based on the principle of balancing shareholders’ expectations and maintaining the Company’s sustainable development,
with consideration of various factors, such as the current business position, future operations and income, and the
financial position of the Company, current and future macroeconomic environment and development, capital needs and
capital reserves, future major investment or acquisition plans, external financing environment, adjustment to relevant tax
rates, adjustments to industry policies, all relevant legal and regulatory restrictions, continuity of past dividend policies
and other factors as considered relevant by the Board. Generally speaking, the total dividend of the Company for a year
represents approximately 30% to 40% of the core net profit attributable to equity holders. Core net profit represents
profit attributable to equity holders excluding net fair value gains/(losses) on revaluation of investment properties and the
related tax effect and net foreign exchange loss recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Board will
review and monitor the implementation of said policy from time to time to ensure its effectiveness and application.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2018, there is no change in the Company’s Articles of Association. The Company’s Articles of Association are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors are pleased to submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group consist of development, selling and management of properties, and holding of
investment properties. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures, associated entities are set out in
the section headed “Group Structure” on pages 191 to 206.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in Note 5 to the
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 89.

The Directors have declared an interim dividend and have recommended the payment of a final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2018. They are summarised as follows:

RMB’000
Interim dividend of HKDO0.042 equivalent to
RMBO0.036 per ordinary share paid on 16 November 2018 462,368
Proposed final dividend of HKDO0.051 equivalent to
RMBO0.044 per ordinary share 545,657
1,008,025

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 24 May 2019 to Wednesday, 29 May 2019,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. For the purpose of ascertaining the
shareholders’ eligibility to participate in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 29
May 2019, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Abacus Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 23 May 2019.

In addition, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 5 June 2019 to Thursday, 6 June
2019, both days inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend. In order to
qualify for the final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Abacus Limited, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 4
June 2019.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to approximately RMBO0.15 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group’s business, including the important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of 2018 and the likely future developments in the Group’s business, is set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement”, and “Management Discussion and Analysis” sections of this Annual Report. Principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group are set out in the Risk Management Report. Details about the Group’s financial risk management are
set out in note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, relationships with its key stakeholders
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and Analysis, the Corporate Governance Report, this Report of the
Directors and Investor Relations Report. The environmental, social and governance report to be issued by the Company
will also contain the Group’s environmental policies and performance.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association and there was no restriction
against such rights under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

INTEREST AND NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS CAPITALISED

During the year, interest and net foreign exchange loss capitalised as development cost in respect of investment
properties, properties under development and property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately RMB1,793
million (2017: RMB900 million).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the distributable reserves, calculated under Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap.622), of the Company available for distribution amounted to RMB962 million (2017: RMB1,043 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Mr Zhang Zhaoxing (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018)
Mr Zhu Chunxiu (resigned with effect from 14 August 2018)
Mr Lin Zhaoyuan

Mr Lin Feng (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018)
Mr Li Feng

Ms Chen Jing

Ms Liu Yan (appointed with effect from 14 August 2018)

Mr Yu Lup Fat Joseph*
Mr Lee Ka Lun*
Mr Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose*

*

Independent non-executive Directors

The Directors’ Profiles are set out on pages 51 to 53.
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ROTATION AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Messrs Lee Ka Lun and Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose will retire by rotation in accordance with Article 91 of the Company’s
Articles of Association at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, all offer themselves for re-election.
Mr Lin Feng and Ms Liu Yan will retire in accordance with Article 98 of the Company’s Articles of Association at the
general meeting proposed to be held in April 2019 and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

The Board recommends the re-appointment of all directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming general meeting of
the Company.

DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the employer within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all the directors who have served on the boards of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year and up to
the date of this report are available on the Company’s website (www.yuexiuproperty.com).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the Company’s subsidiaries, its holding companies
or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or an entity connected with the Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of
his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company have arranged and maintained directors’ liability insurance
throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED

TRANSACTIONS
During the reporting year, the following continuing connected transactions were entered into on normal and commercial
terms:
Date Connected Relationship Nature of Transaction Aggregate
Party with the transaction
Company value for the
reporting year
29 October 2014 ~ Chong Hing A fellow On 29 October 2014, the Company The aggregate
Bank subsidiary entered into a master agreement with balance of bank
Limited Chong Hing Bank setting out the deposits amounted
(“Chong Hing aggregate maximum balance of the to RMB924,875,000
Bank”) bank deposits maintained by the Group as at

with Chong Hing Bank would not 31 December 2018
exceed HKD300 million on any given

day for the period ended 31 December The highest
2014 and the two years ending 31 daily aggregate
December 2015 and 31 December amount of
2016, respectively bank deposits

during the

The Company entered into another year ended
bank deposits master agreement with 31 December 2018
Chong Hing Bank on 29 November amounted to
2016 to renew the term of the bank RMB2,397,528.000
deposits agreement expiring on 31

December 2016, and pursuant to

which the aggregate maximum balance

of the bank deposits maintained by the

Group with Chong Hing Bank would

not exceed RMB580 million on any

given day during the period from 1

January 2017 to 31 December 2019

The Company entered into a new
bank deposits master agreement with
Chong Hing Bank on 16 May 2017
(“2017 Bank Deposits Agreement”)
to increase the annual caps in relation
to the bank deposits, and pursuant to
which the aggregate maximum balance
of the bank deposits maintained by
the Group with Chong Hing Bank
on any given day would not exceed
RMB4,000 million, RMB5,500 million
and RMB7,000 million for the years
ending 31 December 2017, 2018 and
2019, respectively
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Date Connected Relationship Nature of Transaction Aggregate
Party with the transaction
Company value for the
reporting year
30 November 2015 EMBFERE  The ultimate A subsidiary of the Company entered RMB39,623,223
BRAT holding into a framework lease agreement
(Guangzhou company with Guangzhou Yue Xiu on 30
Yue of the November 2015 (“2015 Framework
Xiu Holding Company Lease Agreement”) for a term of three
Limited) years commencing from 1 January
(“Guangzhou 2016 to govern the leasing of the lease
Yue Xiu”) properties in relation to Yuexiu Financial

Tower to Guangzhou Yue Xiu and its
subsidiaries and associates (excluding
the Company and its subsidiaries)

The aggregate annual rental payable by
the aforesaid connected parties under
specific lease agreements are subject
to the annual caps of RMB49,000,000,
RMB72,000,000 and RMB75,000,000
for the years ending 31 December
2016, 2017 and 2018 respectively

The subsidiary of the Company entered
into a new framework lease agreement
with Guangzhou Yue Xiu on 17
January 2019 for a term of three years
commencing with retrospective effect
from 1 January 2019, and pursuant
to which the aggregate annual rental
payable by the aforesaid connected
parties under specific lease agreements
are subject to the annual caps of
RMB75,000,000 for each of the years
ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and
2021, respectively
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Date

Connected
Party

Relationship
with the
Company

Nature of Transaction

Aggregate
transaction
value for the
reporting year

29 November 2016 Chong Hing

22 January 2018

Bank

Guangzhou
Yue Xiu

A fellow
subsidiary

The ultimate
holding
company

of the
Company

The Company entered into a framework
agreement with Chong Hing Bank setting
out the maximum aggregate absolute
amount of fair value at inception of the
foreign exchange transactions recorded
as assets/liabilities would not exceed
HKD13,000,000, HKD17,000,000 and
HKD20,000,000 for the years ending
31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018,
respectively

A subsidiary of the Company entered
into a framework property management
services agreement with Guangzhou
Yue Xiu on 22 January 2018 for a
term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2018 to govern the
transactions contemplated under
the relevant tenant management
agreements in respect of Guangzhou
International Finance Center entered or
to be entered into with Guangzhou Yue
Xiu and its subsidiaries and associates
(excluding the Company and its
subsidiaries)

The aggregate annual amount of the
management fees payable by the
aforesaid connected parties under
the relevant tenant management
agreements are subject to the annual
caps of RMB30,000,000 for each of
the three years ending 31 December
2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively

HKD9,646,628

RMB13,552,827
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The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by independent non-executive directors of the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
were entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms or
better; (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and nothing has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions: (i) have not been
approved by the Board; (i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and (iii) have exceeded the annual cap in respect of the disclosed continuing connected
transactions.

On 14 February 2018, the Group has exercised the call option granted by BB FCEIHEXKLELEBBRA
%) (Guangzhou Yuexiu Renda No.4 Business Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (a connected person of the
Group, referred to as “JV Partner”) to acquire JV Partner’s interest in a PRC project company at a total consideration of
RMB3,321,250,000. The exercise of call option was approved by the independent shareholders at the general meeting
of the Company on 27 March 2018.

On 30 March 2018, the Group entered into a transfer agreement to dispose an underground car park located at Yuexiu
District, Guangzhou City to EM T M E& A ERE B R A7) (Guangzhou City Construction & Development Group
Company Limited) for a total consideration of RMB31,963,500. Guangzhou City Construction & Development Group
Company Limited is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of Guangzhou Yue Xiu and is therefore a connected person of
the Company.

On 10 December 2018, EM MMM ERFHE B R AR (Guangzhou City Construction & Development Co., Limited)
(“GCCD”) (a subsidiary of the Company), B/MNEEEXERREREESEZEE(BEMRER) (Guangzhou State
Assets Industrial Equity Investment Fund Enterprise (Limited Partnership) and BN #i A IRER EE S EIR AR A 7
(Guangzhou Yuexiu United Equity Investment Fund Management Company Limited) entered into a limited partnership
agreement to establish EINBAE —REHERESHLE(BRER) (Guangzhou Ming Rui No.l Business Investment
Enterprise (Limited Partnership)) (‘No. 1 Fund”) for the purpose of conducting capital investments, providing investment
consultancy services, with GCCD’s capital commitment of RMB700,000,000. Since the fund manager to the No. 1
Fund is regarded by the Company as a connected person of the Company, the limited partnership agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a connected transaction.

Announcement in respect of the transactions were published in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Rental expenses and property management fees disclosed in note 45 (b)(l) to the consolidated financial statements also
constitute connected transactions entered into or continued by the Group during the reporting year and are regarded as
“de minimis transactions” pursuant to the Listing Rules. Interest expense disclosed in note 45 (b)(l) constitutes exempt
connected transactions pursuant to the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS/CHIEF EXECUTIVE

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its other associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which are required to be recorded in the register maintained by
the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (“Model Code”) were as follows:

The Company

Name of Director Nature of interest Beneficial Approximate
interest % of interest
in shares
Mr Lin Zhaoyuan (Note 1) Beneficial owner/ 2,186,985 0.018
Beneficiary of a trust
Mr Lin Feng (Note 2) Beneficial owner/ 4,415,752 0.036

Beneficiary of a trust/
Spouse interest

Mr Li Feng Beneficial owner 172,900 0.001
Ms Liu Yan Beneficial owner 17,000 0.00014
Mr Yu Lup Fat Joseph Beneficial owner 4,000,000 0.032
Mr Lee Ka Lun Beneficial owner 3,200,000 0.026
Mr Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose Beneficial owner 4,841,200 0.039

Note 1: Mr Lin Zhaoyuan is interested in 2,186,985 Shares, out of which 373,464 Shares are owned by him as beneficial owner,
1,813,521 Shares are held for him as a beneficiary of the Yuexiu Property Company Limited Share Incentive Scheme Trust For
Directors and Senior Management.

Note 2: Mr Lin Feng is interested in 4,415,752 Shares, out of which 1,357,276 Shares are owned by him as beneficial owner, 2,958,476
Shares are held for him as a beneficiary of the Yuexiu Property Company Limited Share Incentive Scheme Trust For Directors
and Senior Management and 100,000 Shares are held by his spouse.
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Yuexiu Transport Infrastructure Limited

Name of Director Nature of interest Beneficial Approximate
interest % of interest

in shares
Mr Lin Zhaoyuan Beneficial owner 120 0.00001
Ms Liu Yan Beneficial owner 485 0.00003
Mr Lau Hon Chuen Ambrose Beneficial owner 195,720 0.012

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2018, none of the directors of the Company had or was deemed to have
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its other associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which are required to be recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year was the Company or a subsidiary a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name Capacity Number of Approximate

shares held % of interest

BMNEFEEEFR AT Interests of controlled 6,159,447,662 49.67
(Guangzhou Yue Xiu Holding corporations (Long position)

Limited) (Note)

Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited Interests of controlled 6,159,447,662 49.67
(“Yue Xiu”) corporations (Long position)
Note:

Pursuant to the SFO as at 31 December 2018, E/MNBFHEEFR AT (Guangzhou Yue Xiu Holding Limited) was deemed to be
interested in 6,159,447,662 shares in the Company as a result of its indirect holding of such shares through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, details of which were as follows:

Name Long positions

in shares
Yue Xiu 6,159,447,662
Superb Master Ltd. 401,989,620
Excellence Enterprises Co., Ltd. (“Excellence”) 5,749,874,187
Bosworth International Limited (“Bosworth”) (Note i) 4,202,934,153
Sun Peak Enterprises Ltd. (“Sun Peak”) 978,065,907
Novena Pacific Limited (“Novena”) (Note ii) 978,065,907
Shine Wah Worldwide Limited (“Shine Wah”) 273,266,721
Morrison Pacific Limited (“Morrison”) (Note iii) 273,266,721
Perfect Goal Development Co., Ltd. (“Perfect Goal”) 234,689,273
Greenwood Pacific Limited (“Greenwood”) (Note iv) 234,689,273
Seaport Development Limited (“Seaport”) 60,918,133
Goldstock International Limited (“Goldstock”) (Note v) 60,918,133
Yue Xiu Finance Company Limited 7,583,855

(i) 4,202,934,153 shares were held by Bosworth, which was wholly-owned by Excellence which was, in turn, wholly-owned by Yue
Xiu.

(ii) 978,065,907 shares were held by Novena, which was wholly-owned by Sun Peak which was, in turn, wholly-owned by
Excellence.

(iii) 273,266,721 shares were held by Morrison, which was wholly-owned by Shine Wah which was, in turn, wholly-owned by
Excellence.

(iv) 234,689,273 shares were held by Greenwood, which was wholly-owned by Perfect Goal which was, in turn, wholly-owned by
Excellence.

v) 60,918,133 shares were held by Goldstock, which was wholly-owned by Seaport which was, in turn, wholly-owned by
Excellence.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2018, the Company had not been notified of any other persons who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company, which are required to be recorded in the
register of interests of the Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company as at the date of this report and within the knowledge
of the directors, there was a sufficiency of public float of the Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

No disclosures with regard to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are made since the aggregate percentages
of sales and purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers are less than 30 per cent. of the
Group’s total sales and purchases respectively.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, who retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Lin Zhaoyuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 February 2019
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_/ RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

I. RISK MANAGEMENT CONCEPT

Risks

of the Group refer to any factors that may affect the realization of its strategic goals by the Group, including

incidents, accidents or acts that have a substantial impact on the success potential (e.g. reputation), assets, capital,
profitability or liquidity (cash) of the Group. The Board, management and employees of the Group jointly participate
in the risk management which is applied to the formulation of strategies by the Group. Risk management infiltrates
all operation and management of the group, identifies the potential items that may affect the Group and manages
risks within the range of risk appetite so as to provide reasonable assurance for achieving the goals of the Group.

II. RISK APPETITE

The Group will continue to implement the “active, stable and balanced” overall risk appetite policy, maintain a stable
capital and liabilities structure to strike a balance between risks and income return, and maintain sufficient capital to

resist

1.

various kinds of risks that might be faced:

Financial and liquidity risks. The Group manages financial and liquidity risks through indicators including
gearing ratio, the ratio of funds return to signed contracts, cash ratio in total assets and cash flow gap;

Market risk. The Group manages market risks through the financing costs indicator;

Operation risk. The Group manages operation risks by improving its internal control system and enhancing
the accountability of risk incidents;

Reputational risk. The Group manages reputational risks through customer satisfaction and other indicators;

Strategy risk. The Group manages strategy risks through review of effect of strategy implementation.

III. RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Board of Director
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The risk management organisational structure of the Group comprises: the Board of Directors (and its Audit
Committee), the senior management, functional departments in head office and the subsidiaries, the Risk
Management Group and the Audit Department.

1.

The Board of Directors (and its Audit Committee) is the governing body for comprehensive risk management
tasks of the Group and is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management and internal control systems.
It is responsible for designing and implementing of the risk control and internal control system and reviewing
the effectiveness of their operation on a regular basis. Its purpose is to manage rather than to eliminate
risks of failure to meet business objectives, and to strive to ensure that no major misrepresentation or loss
will occur. Its major responsibilities include reviewing and approving the overall organization structure and
their terms of reference of risk management, formulating the overall objectives and requirements of risk
management, reviewing and approving annual risk appetite policy and various risk management reports.

The senior management is responsible for organizing daily risk management and deciding on risk
management matters subject to the authorisation of the Board of Directors. Its main responsibility is to
implement and promote the task to establish a comprehensive risk management system of the Company and
to review the effective of risk management structure, and confirm with the Board and (and committee under
the Group)

All functional departments in the head office and the subsidiaries are the first lines of defense in risk
management, discharging their respective duties of risk management during business management. They are
the risk bearer and the chief risk supervisor, being responsible for identification and assessing the main risks
within the responsible scope, making effective risk management strategy, and implementing risk mitigation
measures.

The Risk Management Group represents the second line of defense of risk management, responsible for
the collaboration, summarizing and reporting of overall risk management, coordinating formulation of risk
appetite, risk management systems and policies of the Group, summarizing and monitoring the risk exposure
and management of all business areas and regularly reporting to the senior management, all as organised
by the senior management. In addition, it is responsible for pushing the first line of defense to continuously
improve risk management and control measures, constantly promoting the enhancement of the Group’s risk
management level, researching on advanced risk management concepts and tools, and giving professional
advice for major risk decision-making matters.

The Audit Department is the third line of defense with independence and objectiveness. It is responsible
for carrying out independent tests, verification and evaluation on the integrity and effectiveness of the
risk management framework and the internal control system and providing independent and objective
assessments of the effectiveness of the risk management system that has been established, and constantly
monitoring the compliance of handling and dissemination of inside information. It is also responsible for
reporting severe internal errors to the senior management and Board of Directors, and enforcing the relevant
organizations to rectify and improve in time.
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IV. RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

The Group carries out risk identification and evaluation in respect of the impact on operation efficiency, sustainable
development capability and reputation by reference to the ERM framework of COSO and in accordance with the
frequency of the occurrence of various kinds of risks and the degree of attention of the management of the Group

and taking into account possible financial losses. On this basis, risk management strategies and response plans
are designed in respect of major risks so as to raise the management and control standard and such strategy and

plans

Annual Report

are implemented in the ordinary course of business.

Collection of Initial Risk Management Information

All functional departments in the head office (such as the strategic investment centre, the finance (banking)
department, the marketing centre, etc.) and the subsidiaries continue to collect in their daily operation
risk-related internal and external information, including historical data, future forecasts and risk loss
cases occurred in relevant enterprises within and outside China, with focus on monitoring risks and risk
performance that affect achievement of objectives of the Company; conduct dynamic management of
risk information; identify risks associated with the functions or business of their own units based on risk
information collected for business and submit the same to the Risk Management Group in the head office
as required; the Risk Management Group carries out professional analysis, screening, refinement and
aggregation of risk information identified and reported by all units, set up the risk library of the Company and
reports risk identification results to the senior management.

Risk Evaluation

The Risk Management Group formulates risk assessment standards and carries out assessment of all kinds
of risks identified based on the risk types and the actual needs of risk management with reference to risk
assessment criteria and in dimensions such as possibilities of risk occurrence and the degree of impact of risk
occurrence. Assessment methods include qualitative and quantitative methods: qualitative methods can be
in forms of questionnaires, consultation with experts and interviews with the management, while quantitative
methods can be in forms of statistical inference, computer simulation and event tree analysis.

Implementation of risk assessment is in the form of a combination of periodic assessments and routine
assessments. Under normal circumstances, risk assessment is carried out on an annual basis. In cases of
significant changes such as restructure of organization structure, change in business model and change in
management model, or significant change in external environment and economic policies, risk assessment of
particular areas or topics can be carried out in light of the circumstance.

Formulation of Risk Management Strategies

The Risk Management Group prepares an annual risk appetite policy every year and reports the same to
the senior management for their review and submits to the Board of Directors for its approval. The policy
is eventually communicated to various departments and business lines for implementation through setting
different levels of risk appetite indicators. Quantitative indicators that accurately reflect risk factors and
appropriate management strategies are developed for various risks. For risks causing possible losses within
the enterprise’s sustainable scope and having a minimal impact on the overall objective of the Group,
strategies such as risk taking and risk control can be adopted. For other risks that might have more significant
impact, prudent risk management strategies such as risk avoidance and risk transfer are adopted to reduce
or prevent losses arising from risks.
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VI.

4. Improvement of Risk Management Measures

The Group has sound procedures and mechanisms for monitoring implementation of the annual risk appetite
policy. The Board of Directors approves an annual risk appetite policy on annual basis and determines overall
targets and requirements for the risk management. The senior management are responsible for organising the
implementation of the risk appetite policy by various divisions of the head office and the subsidiaries, setting
up various risk appetite indicators for departments in charge and their management duties on the operation
of indicators; The Risk Management Group collects data about risk appetite on a regular basis, conducts
in-depth analysis for indicators not operating normally, and makes improvements through corresponding
management measures. All functional departments of the head office and the subsidiaries are responsible for
monitoring various specific risks and working out risk management measures in respect of major risks.

5. Supervision and Improvement

The Audit Department is responsible for monitoring effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems. On one hand, risk management and evaluation of internal control are conducted on a regular
basis, and whether the risks borne by the Company deviates from the Company’s risk appetite is objectively
determined through analysis of the types and characteristics of risks encountered by the Company and the
Company’s business operation activities. On the other hand, auditing and supervision are conducted on the
performance of risk management functions and work, and operation of internal system. The results will be
reported to the senior management and the Board to improve the effectiveness of internal control.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROL MEASURES FOR HANDLING AND
DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

For the purpose of handling and disseminating inside information in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group has taken various procedures
and measures, including arousing the awareness to preserve confidentiality of inside information within the Group,
sending blackout period and securities dealing restrictions notification to the relevant directors and employees
regularly, disseminating information to specified persons on a need-to-know basis and strictly complying with the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012.

MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES IN 2018

For optimising the risk management system, the Group set up and continued to improve a system to manage its
risk appetite and a mechanism for formulation of the annual risk appetite policy and management of supportive
measures. A closed-loop management was formed through monitoring, feedback and assessment to ensure
the achievement of overall business objectives of the Company. Identification and evaluation of major risk was
strengthened as well as the internal audit on core business procedures such as investment, procurement by
bidding and tender, management of construction work, and costs and expenses was enhanced. Cooperation and
interaction between risk management functions and internal audit functions was promoted and the strength of the
risk management system was built up.

For financial and liquidity risks, the Group arranged a reasonable match of assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currency, reviewed foreign exchange exposures regularly and carried out stress testing and assessment,
in order to reduce and control the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on its profit and loss. To ensure financial
security, financial resources were integrated through the optimised fund management processes while receivables
management were further strengthened.
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For market risk, the Group optimised its overall capital costs through making reasonable project funding
arrangement and broadening financing channels.

For operation risks, the Group reduced risk exposures in business execution and operation through the continuous
establishment of sound systems, processes and the power and responsibility system, rectification of deficiencies,
introduction of supplemental and improved measures of risk control and prevention, revision and improvement of
strategic investment, new business expansion, marketing management, and construction management.

For strategic risks, the Group set clear strategic direction and targeted, enhanced the analysis of response speed
of the major macro strategies, policies and regional planning released by central and local government, and
maintained the projects and business scale in the key strategic region to ensure that the Group’s strategies were
fully implemented.

VII. 2019 OUTLOOK AND MAJOR MEASURES

1.

Annual Report

The Group continued to comply with the Listing Rules and the best practices of the industry to enhance the
risk management system.

Focus on the positioning of “strategic protection”, adhere to the strategic goals and business plans of
the Group and continue to implement the system to manage the risk appetite. Through risk identification,
evaluation, response, and monitoring the reported risk and the process of continued improvement, foundation
for healthy development of the Group was laid to facilitate the realisation of its strategic goals.

Persist with the concept of integrating risk management with business management, vigorously push
forward the combination of risk management and daily operations, combine the enhancement of system
establishment with the improvement of business processes, and embody the ideas and requirements of risk
management in various specific management and business activities.

Enhance the function of the “Three Lines of Defense” and refine the risk management system. Reinforce
the duty of “managing risks” of the “First Line of Defense” of functional departments and responsible units
through regulating business processes and internal control; reinforce the duty of the “Second Line of
Defense” of the risk management functional departments through strengthening the risk assessment and
accountability mechanism, enhancing the binding force of risk management, and developing to the culture of
risk management; fully capitalize on the “Third Line of Defense” function of internal audit and supervision.
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2.

For management of specific risks, after the process of risk identification and assessment, the Group
considers that the following risks should be attended to (there may be other risks in addition to those shown
below which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be material

in the future):

Risk Management
and Control Measures

Risk Risk Description Intended to be optimized
Market demand and Systematic risk, such as the impact 1. The Group will strengthen
supply and policy risk of market demand and supply information collection, analysis,

relationship,macroeconomic policy
and fiscal, tax and financial policies,
etc. on the business development of
the Group.

research and reporting
on industry cycles, policy
adjustments and market
changes, so as to enhance risk
sensitivity.

Establish a rapid response
and adjustment mechanism
for major macro-strategies,
policies and regional plans
announced by the central and
local governments.

Coordinate and manage
the external database of the
Company and contact the
research institutes of big data
strategy.
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Risk Management
and Control Measures
Risk Risk Description Intended to be optimized

Investment Feasibility Study The risk of making wrong judgment 1. Strengthen urban research and

and Decision Making Risk  and jeopardizing the interest of the urban survey, classify and
Group due to lack of completeness rank cities from four indicators
and accuracy of the feasibility study including urban development,
of investment projects or failure population, market and risk,
to implement comprehensive risk and establish a negative impact
identification. list of cities.

2. Apply the investment risk
assessment model, carry
out quantitative assessment
toward the project risk from
three aspects including city,
project and operation team,
and formulate corresponding
risk prevention measures.

3. Improve investment benchmarks,
enhance income requirements,
achieve high-quality investment,
and implement a resource
coordination mechanism.

4. Monitor the return and risk
of investment projects in a
dynamic manner.

Exchange rate risk When the companies which the 1. Reasonably match foreign
Group held shares have foreign currency assets and liabilities
currency assets or liabilities, and control foreign exchange
exchange rate fluctuation may result exposure.

in loss which may indirectly affect the

Group’s financial performance. 2. Pay close attention to foreign

exchange market information
and communicate with senior
experts of foreign exchange on
changes in foreign exchange
market and risk management
experience.
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Risk

Risk Description

Risk Management
and Control Measures
Intended to be optimized

Product Positioning Risk

Business Operation Risk

The risk of the Group’s dull sale
or business results being hurt as a
result of deviation from the market
demand in respect of product design,
product functions and quality, time of
launch and product positioning in the
market.

Inadequate business management
model and positioning of commercial
properties which affect the realization
of the business objectives of the
commercial properties of the Group.

1.

Continue to carry out
competitive products analysis,
collect the popular house
design from market, and
maintain a high degree of
sensitivity to changes in
market, competitive products
and customer sentiments.

According to customers’
needs, analyze their
deep concerns, carry out
standardization research
on house type, community
supporting facilities, landscape,
functional space and other
modules, create product
innovation highlights and
update product standards.

Strengthen the whole process
management of the project
aiming at “improving quality
control”.

The Group will strengthen
the ability of project planning
and design, promotes
customization of product
planning and promotes added
value of products.

Accurately position the
commercial projects, actively
expand investment pipelines,
and improve business operation
capacity and profitability.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e
pwc Bk E

To the Members of Yuexiu Property Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Yuexiu Property Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 89 to 190, which comprise:

* the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e  Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and its associated entity

° Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale held by the Group

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and
its associated entity

Refer to notes 3.3(b), 4(a), 17 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties to be RMB10,865 million at 31
December 2018, with a revaluation gain for the year
ended 31 December 2018 recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of RMB371 million. The fair
value of investment properties held by Yuexiu Real Estate
Investment Trust, an associated entity, attributable to the
Group amounted to RMB10,516 million at 31 December
2018, with a revaluation gain for the year ended 31
December 2018 recorded in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of RMB327 million.

Management has engaged independent external valuers to
perform valuation of all the investment properties in order
to support management’s estimates. The valuations of
completed investment properties are dependent on certain
key assumptions that require significant management
judgement, including market rents and capitalisation rate.

Due to the significant judgement and estimates involved,
specific audit focus was placed on this area.

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

o Evaluating the independent external valuers’
qualifications, expertise, competence, capabilities
and objectivity;

° Obtaining the valuation reports for all properties and
assessing that the valuation approach adopted was
suitable for use in determining the fair value for the
purpose of the financial statements;

e Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the property industry and using our
in-house valuation experts; and

° Checking, on a sample basis, the input data used
by the independent external valuers for the accuracy
and relevance of the published external market data.

We found that the assumptions and estimates made by
the management in relation to the valuation was supported
by the available audit evidence.
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Net realisable value of properties under development and
properties held for sale held by the Group

Refer to notes 4(b), 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group had properties under development and
properties held for sale of RMB73,069 million and
RMB10,165 million, respectively, as at 31 December 2018.
Management assessed the carrying amounts according
to the net realisable value of these properties, taking into
account the estimated costs to completion and estimated
net sales value at prevailing market conditions. Write down
to net realisation value is made when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may
not be realisable. The assessment requires management
judgement and estimates.

OTHER INFORMATION

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on net realisable value of properties under development
and properties held for sale included:

° Evaluating of management’s assessment by
comparing, on a sample basis, the estimated selling
price less variable selling expenses and the estimated
costs to completion used in the assessment with
the price and cost data from recent transactions or
available market information;

° Discussing with management on the latest status
and development plans of the underlying property
projects, such as expected completion dates of the
projects; and

e Checking management’s adjustments to recoverable
amounts of the underlying property projects if their
carrying amounts are below net realisable value.

We found the net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale were supported
by the available evidence.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ip Koon Wing, Ernest.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 February 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Note 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue 5 26,433,444 23,793,908
Cost of sales 6 (18,040,522) (17,685,801)
Gross profit 8,392,922 6,108,107
Proceeds from sales of investment properties 96,428 350,774
Direct costs of investment properties sold (93,753) (850,266)
Gain on sales of investment properties 21 2,675 508
Fair value gains/(losses) on revaluation of investment properties, net 17 370,875 (119,326)
Other gains, net 7 1,039,814 670,617
Selling and marketing costs 6 (650,513) (618,959)
Administrative expenses 6 (1,045,130) (967,350)
Operating profit 8,110,643 5,073,597
Finance income 8 169,665 276,557
Finance costs 9 (2,002,121) (1,309,699)
Share of profit of
— joint ventures 22 58,466 81,715
— associated entities 23 446,749 663,240
Profit before taxation 6,783,402 4,785,410
Taxation 10 (3,743,909) (2,453,764)
Profit for the year 3,039,493 2,331,646
Attributable to:
— Equity holders of the Company 2,727,885 2,260,242
— Non-controlling interests 311,608 71,404
3,039,493 2,331,646
Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
(expressed in RMB per share)
— Basic and diluted 11 0.2200 0.1823

The notes on pages 98 to 190 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Profit for the year 3,039,493 2,331,646
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
[tems that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (415,210) 275,753
Change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax - 14,449
Losses on cash flow hedges (834) =
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Changes in the fair value of equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, net of tax 15,161 =
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (400,883) 290,202
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,638,610 2,621,848
Attributable to:
— Equity holders of the Company 2,326,177 2,549,658
— Non-controlling interests 312,433 72,190
2,638,610 2,621,848

The notes on pages 98 to 190 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 2018

Note 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 1,994,812 1,961,077
Investment properties 17 10,865,470 13,743,710
Land use rights 18 207,569 217,817
Interests in joint ventures 22 6,473,872 5,570,130
Interests in associated entities 23 13,912,313 14,202,652
Available-for-sale financial assets 24 - 1,206,645
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 24 1,228,635 =
Derivative financial instruments 9,069 =
Deferred tax 